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Characteristics of GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will
be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any
part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Yu Tak
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given
in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”)
for the purpose of giving information with regard to the
Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the
information contained in this report is accurate and complete in
all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there
are no other matters the omission of which would make any
statement herein or this report misleading.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
PBHE

for the year ended 31 December 2021
BE—F-_—F+ _H=1+—HIFE

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
—T—+F ZZ-N\F ZT-NF ZZTTF ZB-—F
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET AT FET TET FHT

RESULTS ES

Revenue WA 110,174 97,225 98,492 49,211 41,361
Loss before income tax BB R R E R (10,500) (23,210) (14,635) (9,243) (8,820)
Income tax expense FTisHiRX (371) (41) (79) (81) (88)
Loss for the year FREE (10,871) (23,251) (14,714) (9,324) (8,908)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEHERE

Total assets BERT 112,445 150,833 141,204 140,879 130,484
Total liabilities =R (45,906) (42,255) (24,288) (25,395) (21,965)
Total equity gt 66,539 108,578 116,916 115,484 108,519
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERHE

Dear Shareholders:

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Yu Tak
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”), it is my
pleasure to present the Annual Report of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2021.

Following a year of contraction, the economy of Mainland China
was restored to an annual growth of 8.1% for 2021. Household
disposable income and retails were well supported. With an
overall 7% downward adjustment in gold prices, the Group’s
jewellery businesses doubled in revenue of the preceding
year. Compared with the Jewellery Products segment, the
IT products and Services segment was less susceptible to
negative impacts of the epidemic. Revenue from the segment
dropped by 55% due to the Group's strategy to scale down
those non-profitable services.

For 2022, it is likely that geopolitical tensions will be again
dominating the global economy. Gold prices which are sensitive
to the financial risks and panics have regained above US$1,900/
oz levels. International unrests will probably further dampen
the slowing down economy of Mainland China. The Group will
adopt a more prudent view on the business environment of
2022. Any expansion plans and investment decisions will be
accessed with dual care.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of all Board members, | would like to take this
opportunity to express my gratitude to the Shareholders and
business partners of the Group for their continued supports and
trust during the past years, and my most sincere appreciation
to the Directors, management and staff at all levels for their
dedication, hard works and contributions to the Group.

LI Xia
Chairman

Hong Kong
12 May 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWR DM

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s loss
attributable to the owners of the Company amounted to
HK$8,908,000 (2020: HK$8,717,000). The loss was mainly due
to the written down in value of HK$4,986,000 for obsolete
jewellery stock items.

The Group's revenue for the year ended 31 December 2021
amounted to HK$41,361,000 (2020: HK$49,211,000).

The sales of gold and jewellery products and franchise income
rebounded by 138% to HK$23,503,000 (2020: HK$9,894,000).
Revenue from enterprise software products amounted
to HK$13,340,000 (2020: HK$13,328,000). Revenue from
professional services dropped by 83% to HK$4,518,000 (2020:
HK$25,989,000).

OPERATION REVIEW

Mainland China ended its final week of 2021 with its biggest
rally of new COVID-19 cases for almost two years ago. Despite
this, the epidemic was largely under control during the year and
business activities were back to the pre-epidemic period.

According to the National Bureau of Statistics, Mainland China’s
economy had grown by 12.7% in the first half year of 2021 but
slowed to 4.9% and further to 4% over the last two quarters of
the year that an overall growth of 8.1% was reported. Besides,
retail sales grew by 12.5% from the prior year's contraction and
were restored to 2019 levels. Household disposable income
remained supported by economic growth.

Gold price finished 2021 at US$1,806/0z, a fall of 7% over the
year amid global strength of US dollars. More friendly gold
prices, ridding on growth of retail sales, favored jewellery
demand. While weddings postponed from 2020 to 2021
added momentum to the market, demand of gold jewellery in
Mainland China rebounded strongly and rose by 63% to 675
tonnes in 2021. In terms of market segments, growth in lower-
tier cities continued and yellow gold products continued to
dominant demand.

Revenue from sales of gold and jewellery products of the Group
of 2021 grew from HK$9,876,000 of 2020 to HK$23,503,000.
On the other hand, income from IT Products and Services
contracted to HK$17,858,000 as a result of the Group's
strategy to scale down professional services businesses which
demanded disproportionated investment in human resources.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEBNWR DN

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES
AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2021, the Group remained in a strong
financial position with cash and bank balances of HK$19,562,000
(2020: HK$23,524,000).

As at 31 December 2021, the Group's issued shares were
1,947,690,000 shares (2020: 1,947,690,000 shares).

The Group monitored its capital structure using the gearing
ratio which is net debt divided by total equity. For this purpose,
the Group defined net debt as total debt, which comprises
long-term and short-term borrowings, less cash and cash
equivalents. Total equity comprised equity attributable to
owners of the Company and non-controlling interests stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position. The gearing
ratio is not presented, it was nearly zero (2020: zero).

TREASURY POLICY

The Directors will continue to follow a prudent policy in
managing the Group's cash and maintaining a strong and
healthy liquidity to ensure that the Group is well placed to take
advantage of future growth opportunities.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group does not have significant exposure on foreign
currency risk. The functional currencies of the Group's entities
are principally denominated in HK$ and RMB. The Group
has certain exposure to foreign currency risk as some of its
business transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies of the respective
Group entities such as USD. The Group currently does not have
a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEBNWmR TN

FUNDS FROM ISSUES OF ORDINARY
SHARES IN 2018 AND 2019 AND
UTILISATION

The Company had issued 594,230,000 ordinary shares by Rights
Issue on 29 March 2018. The funds of approximately HK$57
million raised were to support the Group’s development of the
sales of gold and jewellery products businesses in Mainland
China in order to strengthen its income stream and maximise
return to the Shareholders. According to the plan formulated
early 2018 when the demand of gold and jewellery in China
was climbing, the Group intended to use the net proceeds on
the following items:

1) approximately HK$15 million for staff recruitment;

2) approximately HK$20 million for strengthening gold and
jewellery product design and brand marketing;

3) approximately HK$5 million for launching an e-commerce
sales platform to increase the sales channel of gold and
jewellery products;

4) approximately HK$4 million for establishing new
representative office in Shanghai to facilitate marketing of
gold and jewellery products and business development;
and,

5) the remaining proceeds of approximately HK$13 million
for upgrading the Group's supply chain management
system and other working capital purposes.

Subsequent to an observable reverse of sentiment of the retail
market brought by US-China trade tension and surging gold
prices, the Group had invested approximately HK$30 million in
building up the inventories at relatively lower prices in second
half year of 2018 and focuses were shifted to wholesales
businesses which were less dependent on sales talent and its
own distribution channels but with thinner gross margin. The
adjustment was proved successful as wholesale businesses
contributed to doubling the revenue from sales of gold and
jewellery in 2019.

Furthermore, the Company issued 165,000,000 ordinary shares
by placement on 21 May 2019. Approximately HK$17 million
were raised for general working capital where HK$7 million
would be used for meeting the operating and administration
expenses of the Company. The funds were fully utilised
according to the purposes of the placement.

RIZEBE-NFERZE-NFBTESR
BRIrSESRFERER

ARAFR-ZE—NEFE=ZF - +HBEBERIETT
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BT AR BAEERFREANLERES R
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
BEBNWR DN

FUNDS FROM ISSUES OF ORDINARY
SHARES IN 2018 AND 2019 AND
UTILISATION (cContinued)

In 2021, the remaining HK$7.2 million of the net proceeds from
the right issues of ordinary shares in 2018 were reallocated

from its intended use to cover the operating and administration
expenses of the Company.

ANALYSIS

REB-NFR-Z-NFRITEE
R F1§ ﬁ%&ﬁﬁﬁ’%/ﬁi(f@

RO —F R N\FEBEREITLR
A% FT 1S FRIE F 58842 T~ 7,200,000 7T 2 #E H 5t E A
BREHOEEARNANEERTHAS °

Uses of net proceeds from issues of ordinary shares

ERRAEHERERL
Upgrade
supply chain
management .
Gold and ) system and 0peratlng
jewellery Establish  other workln L
product de5|gn Shanghai caplta administration
 Staff and brand  e-Commerce  representative (includin expenses of
Total recruitment marketing ~ sales platform office |nventor|e§ the Company
T ey
T ﬁg TpeTs e
HKS miljon HKS million m ion HKS milion KS mi o_n HKS million HKS million
BEAT BEAT AEAT AEAT AEAT BERT AEAT
Net proceeds from issues of ordinary M -E—-\E=A_thHAA
St b nt‘]hts issue on 29 Marc ﬁ% ’&%‘%H@Pﬁwlﬁﬁ
2018 and infended uses AR }E%}ﬁ 570 15.0 20 50 40 13.0 -
Reallocation of uses of net proceeds ~ ENAEAETEFE B - (10.0) (99) - - 198 -
Amounts utiised during 2018 REZ-NEBRZER 39 01) 09 - - (28] _
Balances of unutiised net proceeds RZE-NF+-R=1-8Bk
85 at 31 December 2018 and E-NE-A-BiRk
1 January 2019 BEFESELE g8 232 49 93 5.0 40 - -
Reallocation of uses of net proceeds ~ ENARFETERE, B = = = - 20 20 =
Net proceeds from issues of ordinary ~ W=E-AERA=— EiEL
shares by placement on 21 May 2019 @E%’Z’"ﬂ LERAEE
and intended uses FERRERE 171 = = = = 101 70
Amounts utlised during 2019 RZE-NEHRE B (251) 20) (3.0) - (1.0) (12.) (7.0)
Balances of unutiised net proceeds N ZF-AE+ZF=1-R
as at 31 December 2019 and R-Z-FE-F-Hik
1 January 2020 YR MERERE ES 152 29 63 5.0 10 - -
Reallocation of uses of net proceeds  EFARAETEFE, ik - - 20 (5.0 (1.0 - 80
Amounts utiised during 2020 R-E-EER/HE 8.0) - - - - - 8.0)
Balances of unutiised net proceeds  R-F-EF+-A=1-H
as at 31 December 2020 and Rk-Z--£-f-Bik
1 January 2021 R HERERE S 72 29 43 = s s s
Reallocation of uses of net procesds ~ ENAEHEFEFE, B - 29 [43) - _ . 79
Amounts utilized during 2021 REE--5HE 73R (12) - - - - - (72
Balances of unutiised net proceeds as at W= —~E+-A=t-R%
31 December 2021 REB 7 FEaERE e - - - _ - _ .

10 Yu Tak International Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2021



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEBNWmR DN

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL
ACQUISITION OR DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES

On 10 January 2021, the Group acquired an additional
19.9% equity interest in a subsidiary for HK$10,000. After

the acquisition, the subsidiary had become a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any other
significant investment and material acquisition and disposal of
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2021.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL
COMMITMENT

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities and material capital commitment (2020: Nil).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

The Group did not have any mortgage or charge over its assets
as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Group had
no significant subsequent event.

SEGMENTAL PERFORMANCE

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the revenue from the
Jewellery Products segment and the IT Products and Services
segment amounted to HK$23,503,000 (2020: HK$9,894,000)
and HK$17,858,000 (2020: HK$39,317,000) respectively.

EARE - EARBIHEHRBELT

RZF-—F—HA+H - AEEIA10,000/8 T
BB LRRIMNEINMII%RIE - RKER -
ZHBRREXNAAEENZENMBARR -

REXFEEEI  ARERBE_T_—F+
A=t BLFEREEMEMERNKRERLY
BEITHBERARNERRBREE -

HARBBEREREE

RZBZ—F+ZA=+—H8 ' xEBELEEM
EARSARBBERERERNAE(ZT_TF: &) -

EEEH
R-E-—FR-"ZE-TF+-_A=+—H &
WY BT EEKMLITC -

EHRHBEBRER
REREBERE - AEELBEAREES -

DEBRI
BHE-_ZT-_—+-A=1+—HILEE %X
BEHEEMDBURENRBER KRB DS
Z WA 554235030008 T(ZE-TF:
9,894,000 7T ) % 17,858,000 T( =B - T4 :
39,317,000 7T) °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR DM

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 December 2021, the number of employees of the
Group was 41 (2020: 46). Remuneration is determined by
reference to market terms and the performance, qualification
and experience of individual employee. Year-end bonus
based on individual performance will be paid to employees as
recognition of and reward for their contributions.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

In the last quarter of 2021, GDP grew by 4%, slowed down
from 4.9% growth in Q3, 7.9% in Q2, and 18.3% in Q1 of the
year due to debt defaults of leading real estate developers
under the government’s continued deleveraging efforts on the
leading developers and diminished supports from exports. The
trend of economy slowdown may extend to this year while
headwinds from a flagging real estate sector and inflation
continues, coupled with geopolitical tensions.

Demand of gold jewellery in Mainland China relies on economic
growth and stable gold prices. On the bright side, impacts of
the COVID-19 epidemic, despite possible resurgences, are
diminishing under Mainland China’s strict epidemic prevention
policies. It is expected that Chinese government will be much
more cautious in introducing measures that have an economic
tightening effect and may further shore up economic growth
by increasing investments in infrastructures later this year. In a
longer term, boosting domestic demand remains the focus of
the government in rebalancing the economy from investment-
led growth to greater reliance on consumption and services that
the Group's jewellery businesses will be favoured.

The Group will adopt a more prudent view on the business
environment of 2022. In terms of product segments, the
heritage gold jewellery products will continue to dominate the
market among higher-end consumers while younger buyers with
lower budget gravitate towards more affordable and trendier,
lightweight gold jewellery in modern designs. The shift to
wholesale businesses has proved successful in reducing costs
over the last couple of years. The Group has no plan to re-enter
the retail market in 2022 and until the market conditions favour
the move.

For the IT Products and Services segment, the Group will keep

looking for opportunities which have synergies with its core
business.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERBME

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company is committed to the establishment of good
corporate governance practices and procedures. The
Directors believe that sound and reasonable corporate
governance practices are essential for the growth of
the Company and for safeguarding the shareholders’
interests and the Company's assets.

(1) (1)

The Company’'s code of corporate governance practices
was adopted with reference to the code provisions of
the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code Provisions”)
contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules to
ensure that the Group’s business activities and decision-
making processes are regulated in a proper and prudent
manner. The Company has compiled with the Corporate
Governance Code set out in the Appendix 15 of the GEM
Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2021
except where otherwise stated.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for overseeing the strategic
directions, management, business and financial
performance of the Group.

(2) (2)

The Board has delegated the day-to-day operational
responsibilities of the Group’s business to the executive
management team under the leadership of Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer and various Board committees.

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises the following members:

Executive Directors:
Ms. LI Xia

Mr. CHONG Yu Ping
Mr. CHEN Yin

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. LAM Tin Faat

Ms. ZHAO Xiaxia

Ms. NA Xin
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Meeting

The Board meets at least four times a year to review
financial and operating performance and discuss the
Group’s direction and strategy. Details of the attendance
of the Board of Directors are as follows:

(2)
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EXe8FRLRTOREHE - Wasit
W& ERE YERNAEEZ TR R
CEBFEHRERIABLOT

okt
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31 Mar 2021 14 May 2021 13 Aug 2021 12 Nov 2021

—E--F —E--F —E_-F —E_-F

=A=+-H LA+MAH NE+=H +-BA+Z=H

Ms. LI Xia i v v v/ v
Mr. CHONG Yu Ping HEFLE v v/ v/ v
Mr. CHEN Yin BRELE v v X HE X HE
Mr. LAM Tin Faat MRELE v/ v/ v/ v/
Ms. NA Xin B+ v v/ v v
Ms. ZHAO Xiaxia HEBLL v/ v X HRE X GhE

Directors are given notice of regular Board meetings of
at least 14 days in advance. The Directors will receive
details of agenda with comprehensive reports on the
management'’s strategic plans, updates by business unit
heads on their lines of business, financial objectives,
plans and actions at least 3 days before a Board meeting.

All Directors have access to the Company Secretary
who is responsible for ensuring that Board procedures
are complied with and advises the Board on corporate
governance and compliance matters.

The executive Directors meet every two weeks to review
company business pipeline, receivables, and business
unit performance. Senior management of the Company
(the “Senior Management”) meets with Business Unit
Management every week to review project status, and
business unit issues.

The Company has undertaken several meetings, first
with Senior Management, second with the audit
committee, and subsequently with the Board, to discuss
and review the Group's practice on corporate governance
and make specific checks on the Group’'s compliance
via a compliance matrix in accordance to the criteria set
forth by the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company Secretary has assisted the chairman of the
Board in preparing the agenda for each meeting and the
minutes of such meetings are kept by the Company’s
company secretary or other duly authorised person. All
minutes are open for inspection by any Director on reasonable
notice. Draft(s) and final version of the minutes are sent to
Directors for comment and records, respectively.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-executive Directors

The Company confirmed that annual confirmations
of independence were received from each of the
Company's independent Non-executive Directors
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and all
independent non-executive directors are considered to
be independent.

The function of the independent non-executive Directors
includes but not limited to participating in Board meetings
and meetings of committees to bring an independent
judgement to bear on issues of strategy, policy,
performance, accountability, resources, key appointments
and standards of conduct. The written terms of reference
for their functions in the respective committees; namely
Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Audit Committee are available on the Websites of Stock
Exchange and the Company.

Directors’ Training

Directors must keep abreast of their collective
responsibilities. Every newly appointed Director
should receive induction and subsequent briefing and
professional development.

Pursuant to Code A.6.5 of the Code Provisions (which is
effective from 1 April 2012), Directors should participate
in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. During the period, all Directors have participated
in appropriate continuous professional development
activities by way of reading materials relevant to the
Company’s business or to the Directors’ duties and
responsibilities.

Mr. Lam Tin Faat, as the chairman of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee also attended a number of seminars/courses
in relation to continuous professional developments
organised by The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants during the year in 2021.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Liability Insurance

Appropriate liability insurance, the coverage of which
is reviewed annually, has been arranged to indemnify
the Directors’ risk exposure arising out of corporate
activities.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Pursuant to Code A.2.1 of the Code Provisions, the
roles of chairman and chief executive officer should
be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual, so that there is a clear division of
responsibilities between the management of the Board
and the day-to-day management of the Company's
business to ensure a balance of power and authority.

Ms. Li Xia has become the Chairman of the Board
since 1 December 2021 while she serves as the Chief
Executive Officer of Company. As all major decisions of
the Company are made in consultation with members of
the Board, the Company believes that there is adequate
balance of power and authority in place though vesting
the roles of both chairman and chief executive officer
in the same person. The Board will review the decision
and its impairs on operation, if any, on a continuing basic
and will takes those corrective actions decisively as
necessary.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 11 August
2000. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. The Audit Committee’s principal duties are to
review and supervise the financial reporting process and
internal control procedures of the Group.

The revised terms of reference of Audit Committee in
accordance with Rules 5.05 (2) and 5.28 to 5.29 and
Code C3 of the Code Provisions of the GEM Listing
Rules was adopted.

The members of Audit Committee is currently comprised
Mr. Lam Tin Faat, Ms. Na Xin and Ms. Zhao Xiaxia, all
of whom are independent Non-executive Directors. Mr.
Lam Tin Faat is the chairman of the Audit Committee.
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TEERRE
(4) AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

The Audit Committee’s principal duties are to review and
supervise the financial reporting process, internal control
procedures and risk management system of the Group.

The Group's unaudited quarterly and interim results
and audited annual results during the year ended 31
December 2021 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee, who is of the opinion that such statements
comply with the applicable accounting standards and that
adequate disclosures have been made.

The summary of work of the audit committee during the
period is as follows:—

- met with the external auditor, reviewed and made
recommendations for the Board's approval on
the annual, interim and quarterly reports of the
Company;

- reviewed and approved audit fee;

- recommended the re-appointment of Grant
Thornton Hong Kong Limited as auditor, subject to
the Shareholders’ approval at the annual general
meeting;

- reviewed the effectiveness of the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems; and

- reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function.

Details of the attendance of members at Audit Committee
meeting are as follows:
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on
10 May 2005. The written terms of reference of the
remuneration committee are available on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Remuneration
Committee is to make recommendations to the Board on
the Company’s policy and structure for all directors and
senior management’'s remuneration.

The revised terms of reference of remuneration committee
in accordance with Code B.1.2 of the Code Provisions
of the GEM Listing Rules was adopted on the Board
meeting held on 21 March 2012.

The members of Remuneration Committee is currently
comprised Mr. Lam Tin Faat and Ms. Na Xin, both are
independent Non-executive Directors, and Ms. Li Xia
who is an executive Director, Mr. Lam Tin Faat is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee should hold at least one
regular meeting in a year. During the year under review,
the members of Remuneration Committee, Mr. Lam
Tin Faat, and Ms. Li Xia attended the Remuneration
Committee Meeting on 12 November 2021.

The summary of work of the remuneration committee
during the period is as follows:—

- reviewed and recommended to the Board on the
remuneration packages of the executive Directors
and senior management of the Company; and

- reviewed and recommended to the Board on the
Directors’ fees of independent non-executive
Directors.
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TRER/RE
(6) NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 21 March
2012. The written terms of reference of the nomination
committee are available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange. The Nomination Committee is
to assist the Board to deal with matters in relation to
appointment of members of the Board.

The written terms of reference of nomination committee
in accordance with Code A.5.2 of the Code Provisions
of the GEM Listing Rules was adopted on the Board
meeting held on 21 March 2012.

The members of Nomination Committee is currently
comprised Mr. Lam Tin Faat and Ms. Na Xin, both are
independent Non-executive Directors, and Ms. Li Xia
who is an executive Director, Mr. Lam Tin Faat is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee should hold at least one
regular meeting in a year. During the year under review,
the members of Nomination Committee, Mr. Lam Tin
Faat, and Ms. Li Xia attended the Nomination Committee
Meeting on 12 November 2021.

The summary of work of the nomination committee
during the period is as follows:—

- reviewed the existing Board’s structure, size and
composition; and

- reviewed and assessed the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee reviews the structure,
size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board regularly to ensure
that the Board has a balance of expertise, skills and
experience appropriate for the requirements of the
business of the Company. Where vacancies on the
Board exist, the Nomination Committee will carry out
the selection process by making reference to the skills,
experience, professional knowledge, personal integrity
and time commitments of the proposed candidates,
the Company’s needs and other relevant statutory
requirements and regulations.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which
sets out the approach to achieve a sustainable and
balanced development of the Company and also to
enhance the quality of performance of the Company.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through
the consideration of a number of factors, including but
not limited to age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All board appointments will be based
on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives as stated in the above. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises
six directors. Three of the directors are independent
non-executive directors and independent of management,
thereby promoting critical review and control of the
management process. The Board is also characterised
by significant diversity, whether considered in terms of
professional background, gender and skills.

COMPANY SECRETARY

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary. Our Company Secretary is currently
Mr. Chan Hoi Keung Terence who were appointed on 12
November 2018. The Company Secretary is responsible
for facilitating the process of implementing the Board's
decision, as well as communications between the
members of the Board and the management team of the
Company, and advising the Board and its committees on all
governance matters.
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TRER/RE
(8) COMPLIANCE OF CODE FOR

(9)

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTION

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors on terms no less
exacting than the required standard of dealings set out in
Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors confirms that
they have complied with the required standard of dealings
and the code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by the Directors adopted by the Company throughout the
year ended 31 December 2021.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’'S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the Company’'s financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2021 which reflect true
and fair view of the financial position of the Group
and in compliance with relevant law and disclosure
provisions of the Listing Rules. The Board is responsible
for presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensible
assessment extends to annual and interim reports, other
inside information announcements and other financial
disclosures required under the GEM Listing Rules.

The Group appointed Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
as the Group's external auditor. The statement by Grant
Thornton Hong Kong Limited regarding their reporting
responsibilities to the shareholders on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group is set out in the
Independent Auditor's Report on pages 39 to 44 of this
annual report.
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(10) AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the remuneration
for the provision of audit and non-audit services by the
auditors to the Group is as follows:

(10) X BETEN <=

BE—_ZE-—F+-_A=+—RHILFEE -
1% SR 1) AN £ B IR A A B I FE X BHBR 5 1Y
BT

2021 2020
=B —F —ECEREF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited BE () 2 EIBAT
BRAR
Annual audit services FEZERE 860 620
Non-audit services I B AR TS = =
Total 4Bzt 860 620

(11) RISK MANAGEMENT AND

22

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk
management and internal control system of the Group
and reviewing their effectiveness on an ongoing basis.
Such risk management and internal control systems are
designed for managing risk rather than eliminating the
risk of failure to achieve business objective, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

Management team of the Company has established
the Group’s Internal Control Policies and Guidance for
monitoring the internal control system.

The Board has delegated to the management team of
the Company the implementation of such internal control
systems as well as the review of relevant financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
procedures. Qualified personnels and individual business unit
heads of the Group maintain and monitor the compliance
of these internal control systems and procedures on an
ongoing basis and report variances to senior management.
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(12) INTERNAL CONTROL

Based on the assessment and review made by the Board
and senior management on the effectiveness of the internal
control system, the Audit Committee is satisfied that:

o the internal control and accounting systems of the
Group are designed to provide reasonable assurance
as to material assets of the Group are protected,
business risks attributable to the Group are identified
and monitored, material transactions are executed
in accordance with management'’s authorisation and
the accounts are reliable for publication; and

o there is an ongoing process in place for identifying,
evaluating and managing the significant risks faced
by the Group.

(13) COMMUNICATION WITH

SHAREHOLDERS AND
SHAREHOLDERS RIGHT

The Company endeavors to maintain an on-going
dialogue with the shareholders and in particular, through
annual general meetings or other general meetings to
communicate with the shareholders and encourage their
participation. The Company will ensure that there are
separate resolutions for separate issues proposed at the
general meetings.

The Company will continue to maintain an open and
effective investor communication policy and to update
investors on relevant information on the Group’s business
in a timely manner, subject to relevant regulatory
requirements.

A) General Meetings

The general meetings of the Company provide a
good opportunity for communication between the
shareholders of the Company and the Board. An
annual general meeting of the Company shall be
held in each year and at such time and place to be
determined by the Board. Each general meeting,
other than an annual general meeting, shall be called
a special general meeting.
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(13) COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND
SHAREHOLDERS RIGHT (Continued)

24

A)

B)

C)

General Meetings (Continued)

The 2022 AGM is scheduled on 24 June 2022. A
circular containing, among other matters, further
information will be despatched to the shareholders
of the Company together with this report in
accordance with the Bye-Laws, the GEM Listing
Rules and other applicable laws and regulations.

Rights and Procedures for Shareholders to

Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Section 58 of the Bye-Laws, any one or
more shareholders of the Company holding as at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the company secretary, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within
two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the
requisitionists themselves may do so in accordance
with the provisions of Section 74 (3) of the Bye-Laws.

Right to Put Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders of the Company have the right to put
enquiries to the Board. All such enquiries shall be
in writing and sent by post to the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the
attention of the Board or the company secretary.
Shareholders may also make enquiries with the
Board at the general meetings of the Company.
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(14) ATTENDANCE OF GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code, the
Chairman should attend the annual general meeting of the
Company and he should invite the chairmen of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and any other committees (as appropriate)
to attend. Pursuant to code provision A.6.7 of the CG
Code, independent non-executive Director and other non-
executive Directors should attend the general meetings of
the Company.

INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Company has established a range of communication channels
between itself and the Shareholders, and investors. These include
answering guestions through the general meetings, the publication
of annual, interim and quarterly reports, notices, announcements
and circulars on the Company’s website at http://www.hkjewelry.
net/ and meetings with investors and the Shareholders. News
update of the Group's business development and operation are
also available on the website.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF
INSIDE INFORMATION

With respect to the monitoring and disclosure of inside
information, the Company has formulated and implemented its
guidelines, with an aim to ensure that the insiders abide by the
confidentially requirement and fulfil the disclosure obligation. The
guidelines includes, but not limited to, the procedures as follows:

° The Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of
confidential or inside information;

° The Group has stipulated policy on handling of rumours,
unintentional selective disclosure and waiver to the
disclosure of inside information, external communication
guidelines and compliance and reporting procedures;

o The Group authorised only the executive Directors and
company secretary for responding to external enquiries
about Group's affairs; and

° Dissemination of inside information of the Company shall
be conducted by publishing the relevant information on
the website of GEM and the Company, according to the
requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

There had been no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the period.
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The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report and
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities and other particulars of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
and financial position of the Group at that date are set out in
the consolidated financial statements on pages 45 to 144.

The Directors do not recommend payment of any dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021 is set out in the “Financial Summary”,
“Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on page 5, page 6 and pages 7 to 12 respectively of
this Annual Report.

The Group is committed to enhancing governance, promoting
employee benefits and development, protecting the
environment and giving back to society in order to fulfill social
responsibility and achieve sustainable growth. The Group has
complied with the relevant laws and regulations that have
significant impact on the operations of the Group.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 5 of
the annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and
the Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 49 to 50 and note 29
to the consolidated financial statements respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Company had no
distributable reserve.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's Bye-laws, and there was no restriction against such
rights under the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2021, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any
of the Company’s shares.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors:
Ms. LI Xia

(appointed as Chairman effective 1 December 2021)
Mr. CHONG Yu Ping

(resigned as Chairman effective 1 December 2021)
Mr. CHEN Yin

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. LAM Tin Faat

Ms. NA Xin

Ms. ZHAO XiaXia

Pursuant Article 83(2) of the Bye-laws of the Company, the
Directors shall have the power from time to time and at any
time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual
vacancy on the Board. Any Director so appointed by the Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election at that meeting. Pursuant to Article 84(2), any Director
appointed pursuant to Article 83(2) shall not be taken into
account in determining which particular Directors or the number
of Directors who are to retire by rotation.
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DIRECTORS (cContinued)

Pursuant to Article 84 of the Bye-laws of the Company, at each
annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation provided that notwithstanding anything herein,
every Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every
three years. Mr. Chen Yin, Mr. Lam Tin Faat and Ms. Zhao Xia
Xia will retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and Senior Management
are set out on pages 36 to 38.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has an unexpired service
contract which is not determinable by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for reviewing the
Group’'s emolument policy and structure for all remuneration
of the Directors and senior management of the Group, having
regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance
and comparable market practices.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Details of the connected and related party transactions are set
out in the Directors’ Report and note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Notwithstanding the above, no transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director or the Director’'s connected party had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

At 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations, as recorded in the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO"), or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the GEM Listing
Rules were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
of the Company

EERFETHRAERKRAD - HER
DRESTREAEZEERAXR

RZFE-—F+=—A=+—H BEAQRER
FBHMEEEG([FHRBEGKRD ) E3521ER
EFEZELMATE - SRR ZATGEM _ETIR
G FAARIRBRZBMA » ARRESZRIT
BBENA DR REMBEEE 2 &GH - HEKRG
REFPFEZERLARNT ¢

RAEQXFZREEI10BTEBR TR

Number of ordinary shares held

FEEBEREA
Percentage of
the issued
Held by share capital
Beneficial Held controlled of the
Owner by family corporation Total Company
EEARERT
Name of Director ESi2 ERBEEA HREEE HEZEAREE ok ENEp
Ms. LI Xia FELT - - 804,159,697 804,159,697 41.29%
(Note 1)
(Hit1)
Mr. CHEN Yin RELE - - 149,455,740 149,455,740 7.67%
(Note 2)
(Hi2)
Mr. CHONG Yu Ping AETEE 36,726,000 - - 36,726,000 1.88%
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Long positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
of the Company (Continued)

Notes:

(1) These shares were held by Ocean Expert Investments Limited,
a limited company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
which is wholly-owned by Ms. Li Xia.

(2) These shares were held by Flourish Zone Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands which is wholly-owned
by Mr. Chen Yin.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors nor their
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations as at 31 December 2021.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS FERR

At 31 December 2021, the register of substantial shareholders W-_ZT—-—F+-_A=+—H ' BEALAFER
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the FEAKHEAEEFIEICKEFEZFERREZLTAT
SFO shows that the following shareholders had notified the & @ TF|RE D HERA T RERQNT D EITRAKA
Company of relevant interests and short positions in the issued R EEEHABEZR AR °

share capital of the Company.

Percentage
Number of of the issued
issued share capital
Capacity in which interests are ordinary of the
Name of party Notes held shares held Company
i FIBERT  (BADRERT
BEERE B izt BEERNSH EEREE RABS L
Ocean Expert Investments Limited Note 1 Beneficial owner 804,159,697 41.29%
BERERRLA fizt1  EBERBEAEA
Ms. LI Xia Note 1 Interest in a controlled corporation 804,159,697 41.29%
FERTL M REEFIDRZER
Flourish Zone Limited Note 2 Beneficial owner 149,455,740 7.67%
BEARAF Wtz  BRBAEA
Mr. CHEN Yin Note 2 Interest in a controlled corporation 149,455,740 7.67%
BRE LA Mtz REEHIRRZ#R
CK Hutchison Holdings Limited Note 3 Interest in controlled corporations 143,233,151 7.35%
RIMGZEXERARAT M3 REEHIDRZER
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Notes:

(1) Ocean Expert Investments Limited is a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands and wholly owned by Ms. Li Xia.

(2) Flourish Zone Limited is a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands and wholly-owned by Mr. Chen Yin.

(3) CK Hutchison is deemed to be interested in a total of 143,233,151
shares of the Company through its controlled companies.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of
any other interests or short positions in the issued share capital
of the Company as at 31 December 2021.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate turnover attributable to the
Group's five largest customers was approximately 61% of
the Group's total turnover and the Group’s largest customer
accounted for approximately 22% of the Group's turnover.

The aggregate purchases during the year attributable to the
Group's five largest suppliers was approximately 100% of
the Group's total purchases and the Group’'s largest supplier
accounted for approximately 65% of the Group's total
purchases.

At no time during the year, the Directors, their associates or
any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the directors owns
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest
in these major suppliers or customers.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company, its subsidiaries or its associated corporations a party to
any arrangement that enables the Directors to acquire benefits by

means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or its associated corporation.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Except as disclosed in the consolidated financial statements,
the group had no other partial transaction with related parties.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors, the management
shareholders or their respective associates (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) had an interest in a business which causes
or may cause significant competition with the business of the
Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

At no time during the year and up to the date of this report,
there was or is any permitted indemnity provision being in force
for the benefit of any directors of the Company (whether made
by the Company or otherwise) or of its associated company (made
by the Company).

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

All the Directors do not have any financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship with each other.

The Company confirmed that annual confirmations of independence
were received from each of the Company’s independent non-
executive Directors pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules
and all independent non-executive Directors are considered to be
independent.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an Audit Committee on 11 August
2000 with written terms of reference in accordance with Rules
5.28 to 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Audit Committee
currently comprise three members — Mr. Lam Tin Faat, Ms.
Zhao Xiaxia and Ms. Na Xin, all of whom are Independent Non-
executive Directors. Mr. Lam Tin Faat is the chairman of the
Audit Committee. The Audit Committee’s principal duties are
to review and supervise the financial reporting process and
internal control procedures of the Group. The Audit Committee
met on a quarterly basis during the year ended 31 December
2021.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company's total issued share capital was held by the public as
at the date of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to the establishment of good
corporate governance. Information on the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 13 to 25.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, there is no
significant event occurring after the reporting period.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual
general meeting to re-appoint Messrs. Grant Thornton Hong
Kong Limited as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Ms. LI Xia
Chairman

Hong Kong
12 May 2022
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EERENEEAEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. LI Xia (Age 48)

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer

Ms Li has been appointed as the Chairman of the Company,
responsible for leading the work of the Board and setting
operation direction and investment strategies of the Company.

Ms. Li is also the Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
who is responsible for the corporate planning and business
development of the Company. Ms. Li served in Shanghai
Shenggiu Investment Development Limited*, and was
appointed as executive vice president with her experience
and strength in jewellery industry. Ms. Li was responsible for
administration and human resource management, marketing
operations and brand promotion. At the same time, Ms. Li also
served as the special-commissioned jewellery operating adviser
for Baidi Jewellery to lead the company to achieve excellent
results, which made her the veteran in the jewellery business.
Ms. Li graduated from Central Luzon State University, Republic
of the Philippines with a degree of Bachelor of Science in
Business Administration. Ms. Li has been an Executive Director
of the Group since 3 July 2012.

Mr. CHONG Yu Ping, also known as Mr. Zhuang
Ruping (Age 55)

Mr. Chong has over 20 years of relevant experience in the
jewellery and investment industry. Prior to joining the Company,
Mr. Chong has been appointed as the general manager and
executive Director of a private company, Shenzhen Yihua
Jewellery Co., Ltd* and from 2011 to present, he is the director
and legal representative of Shenzhen Yihua Jewellery Co., Ltd, a
company which is a substantial shareholder of the Company as
disclosed under the section headed “Substantial Shareholders”
in the Directors’ Report included herein. Mr. Chong was
appointed as an executive Director and as the Chairman of the
Company on 17 February 2016.

*  For identification purpose only
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENSREEAEBER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. CHEN Yin (Age 40)

Mr. Chen is an entrepreneur in the Mainland China, who
held senior positions in various private companies principally
engaged in luxury goods trading business. Mr. Chen obtained
the Diploma of Graduate Gemologist, Diploma of Diamonds and
Diploma of Colored Stones from the Gemological Institute of
America. Mr. Chen has been as an Executive Director of the
Group since 3 July 2012.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. LAM Tin Faat (Age 46)

Mr. Lam holds a bachelor degree of business administration
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. He has more
than 10 years of experience in financial audit, accounting and
financial management. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom and a
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales. Mr. Lam is also the sole proprietor of TF Lam &
Company, a CPA practice in Hong Kong, and a director of Top
Team Secretary Limited. Mr. Lam has been an independent
non-executive Director of the Group since 3 July 2012.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENSREEABER

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (continued)

Ms. NA Xin (Age 41)

Ms. Na was the chief operating officer of JEIIT L% Tk
EZEHMAR AT (Shenzhen Jiuha Cai Jewellery Co., Ltd)*, a
company specialised in qualified jewellery trading business
from 2008 to 2012. She was an assistant to chief executive
officer for Little Sheep North America (Vancouver) Branch*
from 2012 to 2013. Ms. Na completed her Bachelor's
degree in English in the School of Humanities and Social
Science of Beijing Jiaotong University (formerly known as
the Northern Jiaotong University) in 2003. Ms. Na has been
an independent non-executive Director of the Group since
1 December 2014.

Ms. ZHAO Xiaxia (Aged 42)

Ms. Zhao was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 9 July 2018. Ms. Zhao obtained a college diploma
of history education in Qingdao University* in 2000. She has
been serving as the assistant to the chairman and deputy
general manager of a PRC jewellery company for several
years, principally responsible for executive, management,
and coordination work. Ms. Zhao has ample experience in
marketing, exhibition and operation of jewellery bands.

* For identification purpose only

38 Yu Tak International Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2021

BIFHITEE #)

BRAT 2+ (415%)

MELLTER_FTNFE_FT——_FEEFRIH

NELHKESHER A (EFINRELERKEE
SHEHAT M LEMRE - FYR-—T——FZ

- FETNBEFEECETE) D R RIWNT
BAEFE - BRETR T =FZHILRBA
AE(HBILARBAE) AL SR EREEFE

T8 - BrER-_ZFT-—MFE+_-_A—HEZE
RAKEBILIFRITES -

HES 8 2 1 (425%)
WLER T N\FLtANBEZTAB IS

TEE - MAITHR -_ZZTFRESEABESE
HEREERE - FR—RPEKEAREERK
F REAEEROEFRNBLE  TEZHETT
B 4@&%&1# TR E MBS
¥E RENEZEFAHZEEELES o

* ERB



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZRANRE

To the members of Yu Tak International Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yu
Tak International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 45 to
144, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B2 RENHRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These

matters were addressed in

the context of our audit of the

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Existence and valuation of inventories

Refer to summary of significant accounting policies in note 2.7,
critical accounting estimates and judgements in note 4 and note
18 to the consolidated financial statements.

Key Audit Matter

As at 31 December 2021,
the Group had inventories of
HK$46,858,000. Inventories are
carried at the lower of cost and
net realisable value.

The Group's inventories mainly
comprised gold and jewellery
products which are subject to
risk of changes in market value.
In determining the net realisable
value, estimates and judgements
are applied by the management
in respect of the economic
condition, forecast market price
and marketability of products.

We considered this as key audit
matter due to the significance of
inventories (representing 36% of
total assets) and the involvement
of management judgement and
estimation on the net realisable
value of inventories.

40

How the matter was
addressed in our audit

Our audit procedures to the existence
and valuation of inventories included
the following:

° attended physical inventory
counts at year end and performed
“two-way"” count on a sample
basis;

° inspected the external laboratory
reports on the authenticity of
gold and jewellery products for
the samples selected by us;

° obtained an understanding of
management’s process for
identification of slow-moving
inventories and estimation
of net realisable value of
inventories;

° assessed, on a sample basis,
the accuracy of the ageing of
inventories; and

U tested the net realisable value
of inventories with reference to
subsequent sales information
and external market price data,
on a sample basis.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZRANRE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in
the 2021 annual report of the Company, but does not include
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible
for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B2 RENHRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

° obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZRANRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

° evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’'s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

° evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B2 RENHRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determined those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

11th Floor, Lee Garden Two

28 Yun Ping Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong SAR

12 May 2022

Kwok Siu Kwan, Sylvia
Practising Certificate No.: P06616
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

%;—T—A =\/

Hfe2mEilam*x

for the year ended 37 December 2021 &2 —&F ——

Fr_A=+—HIFE

2021 2020
—B-—F —T-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#& T T
Revenue PN 41,361 49,211
Other income H b2k 2,412 4,179
Change in inventories FTEEH) (10,978) 6,528
Purchase of goods BEER (6,570) (12,856)
Professional fees EXEA (7,554) (21,563)
Employee benefits expense EERAAEL (14,833) (22,477)
Depreciation e (1,415) (1,658)
Expected credit loss (“ECL") BB SRR - EMEK
allowance on trade receivables, RERIREAREL
other receivables and deposits, and BE BHIEEEE
contract assets ([FBHZE
BB ) B E (203) (163)
Other expenses B (6,001) (8,241)
Write-down of inventories to WomiF &= ] 35 %E -
net realisable value, net of reversal Ok #E [l (4,986) (2,187)
Finance costs PBER (53) (32)
Loss before income tax HRFTEHAIEER (8,820) (9,243)
Income tax expense Frisiif sz (88) (81)
Loss for the year FRER (8,908) (9,324)
Other comprehensive income Hih 2wk
Items that will not be reclassified — HEE TS EH S IEEE7w7
subsequently to profit or loss: HH :
Financial assets at fair value BAREBEFAEMEE
through other comprehensive Wa([R AR EEETA
income (“FVOCI") - net HEm2ElE ] ER
movement in fair value reserve é?*’&ﬁfﬁ@ﬁﬁ
(non-recycling) & Fo)FrE (T 8eE) 1,146 4,509
Items that will be reclassified HiEEes B2 8n2
subsequently to profit or loss: EH
Exchange gain on translation of MEBINETE R TS R 8
financial statements of foreign ER R
operations 807 3,383
Other comprehensive income for FRE M2 HEIKE
the year 1,953 7,892
Total comprehensive expense for FRAZXHBE X EE
the year (6,955) (1,432)

HERREZERERQE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SEeEaREMEERER

for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 - FE——F+—-A=+—HIFFZ

2021 2020
—EB-—F ZETHF
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
Bt aE FE T FHEIT
Loss for the year attributable to: E{EFREIE :
Owners of the Company ViN/NCIEZ PN (8,908) (8,717)
Non-controlling interests JEE I M A e - (607)
(8,908) (9,324)
Total comprehensive expense B2 EB A%
attributable to:
Owners of the Company PiN/NEIEZE N (6,955) (825)
Non-controlling interests JEFE IR RS - (607)
(6,955) (1,432)
Loss per share BREE
Basic and diluted BEARREE 12 (HKO0.46 centsi&{ll) (HKO0.45 centsiB{ll)

The notes on pages 53 to 144 are an integral part of these #53F144B KWK EG AT EHREN—
consolidated financial statements. 2B o

46 Yu Tak International Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2021



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e IR R 3R

as at 31 December 2021 R—E—_—F+=-F=+—H

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
M5 FET TFET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERER
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE NERE 14 1,323 2,384
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 836 1,326
Other financial assets Hih e R&E 17 24,223 23,102
26,382 26,812
Current assets REBEE
Inventories ER | 18 46,858 61,554
Contract assets EHEE 19 2,743 3,460
Trade receivables FEE 5 BEF 20 9,348 6,144
Other receivables, deposits and Hah e EUE - e RFER
prepayments g 21 25,591 19,385
Cash and bank balances e LIRTTIER 22 19,562 23,524
104,102 114,067
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables BB SR 23 4,803 2,030
Other payables and accrued charges Efth & 518 K& Fa12 £ A 24 4,956 6,335
Contract liabilities AHEE 19 9,446 7,483
Amount due to a director FEN—RESRIE 25 1,800 8,088
Lease liabilities HEaE 26 539 486
Tax payable FE IR 72 107
21,616 24,523
Net current assets RBEERE 82,486 89,544
Total assets less current liabilities EE&AER A EE 108,868 116,356
Non-current liability FREBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 26 349 872
Net assets EEFE 108,519 115,484
- FEH HEBERERERAT 47



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e BRI R

as at 31 December 2021 R—ZFE——4#+—-H=+—H

2021 2020
—EB-—F ZETHF
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
Bt aE FE T T
EQUITY e
Share capital A& X 27 194,769 194,769
Reserves ] (86,250) (77,322)
Equity attributable to owners of A2 FHEHE AFELEEZ
the Company 108,519 117,447
Non-controlling interests FeE R - (1,963)
Total equity EREE 108,519 115,484
Li Xia =8 Chong Yu Ping HEYF
Director BF Director EBE
The notes on pages 53 to 144 are an integral part of these FEE3E 144 B MM EBA U Fir & B 5

consolidated financial statements. =H—En o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

mEERBER

for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —FE——F+ - A=+—HIFFZF

Attributable to owners of the Company

KARERARR
Fair value Non-
Share Share  Exchange Capital ~ reserve (non-  Accumulated controlling
capital ~ premium* reserve* reserve*  recycling)* losses* Total interests  Total equity
MEEER
Ra  hhEE  MERE B4R (FUEE)  EHER O 2 R
HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS'000. HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
Tén Thn Tén ThL T Tin T Tn T
Balance at 1 January 2020 HZBZZE-F-RNGH 194,769 21853 (7,054) (262) 18,593 (306,30 118272 (1,356) 116,916
Loss for the year EmEE = = - - - 8717 8717 (607) 9304
Other comprehgnsive income: Efp2Els:
- Exchange gan on tanslation of -~ BEENERAHRZNES
financial statements of foreign i
operations - - 3383 - - - 3383 - 3383
- Financial assets at FVOCl -net -~ RABEFAR G2 ERE
movernent in far value reserve WeHAE-N1BERE
fnonecycing susE(tugE) - - - - 4509 - 4509 = 4509
Total comprehensive incomeflexpense) ER2ENE /()25
for the year - - 3383 - 4509 8,717) (825) (607) (1.432)
Balance at 31 December 2020 i s ey |
g 194,769 218532 (3671) (262) 2,100 (315,023) 17447 (1,963) 115,484
T FFHR HERRERERAR 49



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

n‘/_\é*gﬁ_é%@%‘%

for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 - FE——F+—-A=+—HIFFZ

Attributable to owners of the Company

KARERARR
Fair value Non-
Share Share  Exchange Capital ~reserve (non-  Accumulated controlling
capital ~ premium* reserve* reserve*  recycling)* losses* Total interests  Total equity
MEERR
Re  BbEE  NERE  ExER  (FRE)P  ZiHEE ft FEGMER  RRAE

HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000.
TEn T#7 T T#7 T#n TR T#7 TER T
Balance at 1 January 2021 NE_-F-F-BHEH 194,769 218,532 (3.67) (262) 2102 (315,023) 117,441 (1,963) 115,484
Loss for the year EnEE = = = - - (6,308) (6,908 - (6.508)
(Other comprehensive income: Efp2EkE:
- Exchange gain on tanslation of - AEENEREHRRNEY
financial statements of foreign ey
operations - - 807 - - - 807 - 807
- Financial assts at FVOCI -net - RA: EEFAEBRENE
movement n far value reserve TeHAE- D1 BERE
fnonecycing AUSRFTHE) - - = = 1146 - 1146 - 1,146
Total comprehensive incomeflexpense) ER2ENE /()25
for the year - - 807 - 1,146 (8.908) (6,955) - (6,955)
Acquisiton of additional interestof  WE-RRBAT ENES
a subsidary (note 16) iRl - - - (1973) - - (1973) 1963 (10)
Trensfer upon disposal of wnlisted &5 FFRARAEER
equity investments - - - - (25) % = c -
Balance at 31 December 2021 W-Z--£t-B=t-A
fike 194,769 218,532 (2,864) (2,235) 24203 (323,906) 108,519 - 108,519

*

These reserves accounts comprise the Group's deficit of
reserves of HK$86,250,000 (2020: HK$77,322,000) in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The notes on pages 53 to 144 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mMERERER

for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —FE——F+ - A=+—HIFFZF

2021 2020
—E=- —ECERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#& T T
Cash flows from operating activities RERETH2HERE
Loss before income tax MR FTSFLRTE 18 (8,820) (9,243)
Adjustments for: THEE
Depreciation e 1,415 1,658
Net loss on disposal/written off of HE MEME  BERRE
property, plant and equipment ZFEE 218 252
Interest income YR E (17) (21)
ECL allowance on trade receivables, EUE SRR~ H b eI ERIE
other receivables and deposits, and PIRSUAREHNEEZTEH
contract assets EEEIERE 203 153
Interest expense FIERX 53 32
Write-down of inventories to net WRTEZAERFE - Nk
realisable value, net of reversal (o] 4,986 2,181
Exchange gain, net b 5 e 55 (1,251) (1,874)
Operating loss before working capital BEESEEBAI 2 E&EER
changes (3,213) (6,862)
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories BE®RD,/(38m) 10,996 (5,115)
Decrease in contract assets EHEERD 673 2,515
Increase in trade receivables FEWE S BRFIE hN (3,235) (642)
(Increase)/Decrease in other receivables, EfbEWRIA - i2d KBNS
deposits and prepayments I (), (7,864) 5,774
Increase in trade payables TERE SRS NN 2,742 842
Increase in other payables and accrued — H{th BT 3R TE & FE12 & FIIE N
charges 2,052 45
Increase in contract liabilities BB BN 1,974 635
Cash generated from/(used in) operations KEEBEL(BE)Z2HE 4,125 (2,808)
Income tax paid [RENIIECY (117) (38)
Net cash generated from/(used in) L ERNEL (B )2
operating activities JHEE 4,008 (2,846)
= FFER HERBRERERATE 51



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mEBRTRER

for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 - FE——F+—-A=+—HIFFZ

2021 2020
—B-—F —ETF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
FI5E T# T T
Cash flows from investing REREEFHZEESRE
activities
Purchase of property, plant and BEWE - BENMKREG
equipment (80) (526)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEW¥% - BENREZ
plant and equipment FrE 38 28 128
Proceeds from disposal of HEWRB AT ZEHIA
subsidiaries - 100
Proceeds from disposal of unlisted H&EIE R ANIGEFRE
equity investments TRIB 25 =
Acquisition of additional interest of a Uk —FRIM B A & 2 X84\
subsidiary fEzs 16 (10) -
Decrease in other receivables B e WGRIBR 1,876 1,781
Interest received BEHFILE 17 21
Net cash generated from investing 1R&EZEEELTZHEFEE
activities 1,856 1,504
Cash flows from financing REMETH2RESRE
activities
Payment of lease liabilities YNAEafRE (539) (581)
Advance from a director —REEREX 299 -
Repayment to a director M—REEREENRE (9,891) (1,594)
Net cash used in financing activities Ft&EEEH 2 B & F5E (10,131) (2,175)
Net decrease in cash and cash ReERBELEBYZRHD
equivalents B (4,267) (3,517)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 N—A—RAZREERE
January ZEY 23,524 25,994
Effect of foreign exchange rate ME R G ) v &
changes 305 1,047
Cash and cash equivalents at31 R+-A=+—HzHER
December, represented by cash HEZEEY > RENR
and bank balances BITEXR 19,562 23,524

The notes on pages 53 to 144 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RR I

for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —FE——F+ - A=+—HIFFZF

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Yu Tak International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company
with limited liability. The address of its registered office
is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11,
Bermuda and its principal place of business is Hong
Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”)
are principally engaged in the development, sale and
implementation of enterprise software, provision of
professional services, design and sales of gold and
jewellery products and investment holding. The Group's
operations are based in Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC").

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2021 were approved for issue by the board
of directors on 12 May 2022.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

These annual consolidated financial statements
have been prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
which collective term includes all applicable
individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") and the accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

The financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and include the
applicable disclosure requirements of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”).

—RER
HEBEERIERER AR (AR T —H
REREFMKN L EREERAA -
E il 9 F ik A Clarendon House,
2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11,
Bermuda @ MAEZE2LEMHMBEE - K
NAIRMET BB ER AR A E ([ 5
RFT])GEMETH

ARAREMBAR (G AEEDEE
=M%  HERBROFREN  EHE
ER® - AR RHEERSMIREEM
ARBERER - ARBEZE2EREMREE
KAREARKMBE(THE]) -

BE-T--—#+-A=t+-BLFEZ
BAMBRACEEEFEN T ==
AA+ZBHLAERE -

TESHHEGE

mAERE

ZEFEEOUBHRRIRERE
SRS (BRGNS )HE
2 BBV BHREEA (BB
WEER ] (BERAERZ @R
FREMBREEL - A ER
(TBEeEY D ERB)REE
NREFTEANRR -

2.1

MBRRMTEET B RGN 2 &
REBERTE - LBREERXAGEME
F EAARA(TGEM EMARAI ) 2@
RHWERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 - FE——F+—-A=+—HIFFZ

2.

54

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cContinued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The significant accounting policies that have been
used in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements are summarised below.
These policies have been consistently applied to
all the years presented unless otherwise stated.
The adoption of new and amended HKFRSs and
the impacts on the Group's consolidated financial
statements, if any, are disclosed in note 3.

These consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on the historical cost basis, except
for financial assets at FVOCI which are stated
at fair values. The measurement bases are fully
described in the accounting policies below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates
and assumptions are used in preparation of the
consolidated financial statements. Although these
estimates are based on management’s best
knowledge and judgement of current events and
actions, actual results may ultimately differ from
those estimates. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant
to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in note 4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RR I

for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —FE——F+ - A=+—HIFFZF

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FEE;
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

BRI E (&)

=111 4

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 December each year.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the
Group. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over
the entity. When assessing whether the Group
has power over the entity, only substantive rights
relating to the entity (held by the Group and
others) are considered.

The Group includes the income and expenses of a
subsidiary in the consolidated financial statements
from the date it gains control until the date when
the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains and losses on transactions between
group companies are eliminated in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Where
unrealised losses on sales of intra-group asset are
reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset
is also tested for impairment from the Group's
perspective. Amounts reported in the financial
statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted
where necessary to ensure consistency with the
accounting policies adopted by the Group.

FEH HEARERERAE

REZEE
REPBRREBEARARENE
RABESFT-A=1T—HLtZ
s

MEARANEEMEGZERE -
1h$‘§@l//\ %%%;Z%ﬁ‘%ﬁﬁ
AR ERESTEOE  BAR
NBEBHERS ﬂi’fﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁ%;ﬁ

H o ABZEBHEEEGIE - RNFF
fBAKEREHZERERIEHE
B EZR(AAKEREMIMA
FA)EZERAR I EEER -

BAKEESEFEZBEEHED
BEBIMBARZB L - AEES
ZHT B AR Z WA KRG ARE
TR

SEARRMZRS - BHREKRE
EZQ%WE&%EEKﬁ%%Q
%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁ% fidf it 5 SR

RAHEEZRERBENRS
ﬁﬁﬁ%@ HEEETEHAE
B A RETRERIR - KB A FH
BHRERZEBBPELVERE TH
B EEREANKEERRZEEER
_ﬁo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 - FE——F+—-A=+—HIFFZ

2.

56

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity on
a subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly
to the Company, and in respect of which the
Group has not agreed any additional terms with
the holders of those interests which would result
in the Group as a whole having a contractual
obligation in respect of those interests that
meets the definition of a financial liability. For
each business combination, the Group can elect
to measure any non-controlling interests either
at fair value or at their proportionate share of the
subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from the equity attributable
to the owners of the Company. Non-controlling
interests in the results of the Group are presented
on the face of the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as
an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between
non-controlling interests and the owners of the
Company.

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries
that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions, whereby
adjustments are made to the amounts of
controlling interests within consolidated equity
to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or
loss is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M EE

for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —FE——F+ - A=+—HIFFZF

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

In the Company’'s statement of financial
position, subsidiaries are carried at cost less any
impairment loss unless the subsidiary is held for
sale or included in a disposal group. Cost includes

directly attributable costs of investment.

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Company on the basis of dividends received
and receivable at the reporting date. All dividends
whether received out of the investee's pre or
post-acquisition profits are recognised in the

Company'’s profit or loss.

2.3 Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$"), which is

also the functional currency of the Company.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 - FE——F+—-A=+—HIFFZ

2.

58

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

In the individual financial statements of the
consolidated entities, foreign currency transactions
are translated into the functional currency of
the individual entity using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the
reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at that date.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the
reporting date retranslation of monetary assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated (i.e. only translated using the
exchange rates at the transaction date).

In the consolidated financial statements,
all individual financial statements of foreign
operations, originally presented in a currency
different from the Group’s presentation currency,
have been converted into HK$. Assets and
liabilities have been translated into HK$ at the
closing rates at the reporting date. Income
and expenses have been converted into HK$
at the exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates, or at the average rates over the reporting
period provided that the exchange rates do not
fluctuate significantly. Any differences arising
from this procedure have been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in the exchange reserve in equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RR I

for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —FE——F+ - A=+—HIFFZF

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cContinued)

2.4

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are initially
recognised at acquisition cost, including any cost
directly attributable to bringing the assets to the
location and condition necessary for them to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by
the Group’s management. They are subsequently
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of assets less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method, at the following rates per annum:

20% to 331/3%
10% to 50%
20% to 25%
25% to 30%

Leasehold improvements
Computer and office equipment
Furniture and fixtures

Motor vehicles

Estimates of residual value and useful life are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
reporting date.

Gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is
determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset
and is recognised in the profit or loss.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 - FE——F+—-A=+—HIFFZ

2.

60

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

2.5

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item
can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of
the replaced part is derecognised. All other costs,
such as repairs and maintenance, are charged
to the profit or loss during the financial period in
which they are incurred.

Financial instruments
Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when the Group becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the financial
instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or when the financial asset
and substantially all of its risks and rewards are
transferred. A financial liability is derecognised
when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or
expires.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RR I

for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —FE——F+ - A=+—HIFFZF

2. SUNMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cContinued)

2.5

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and initial measurement of financial
assets

Except for those trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component and are
measured at the transaction price in accordance
with HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers”, all financial assets are initially
measured at fair value, in case of a financial asset
not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"),
plus transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition of the financial asset.

Financial assets are classified into the following
categories:

- amortised cost;
- FVTPL; or

= FVOCI.

The classification is determined by both:

- the entity’s business model for managing
the financial asset; and

- the contractual cash flow characteristics of
the financial asset.

All income and expenses relating to financial
assets that are recognised in profit or loss are
presented within finance costs or other income,
except for ECL allowances of trade and other
receivables which is presented as a separate item
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 - FE——F+—-A=+—HIFFZ

2. SUNMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cContinued)

2.5

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement of financial assets

Debt investments

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if

the assets meet the following conditions (and are
not designated as FVTPL):

- they are held within a business model
whose objective is to hold the financial
assets and collect its contractual cash
flows; and

- the contractual terms of the financial assets
give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in other income in profit or
loss. Discounting is omitted where the effect of
discounting is immaterial. The Group’s cash and
bank balances and trade and other receivables
(excluding prepayments and value-added tax
recoverable) fall into this category of financial
instruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RR I

for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —FE——F+ - A=+—HIFFZF

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVTPL unless the equity investment is not held
for trading purposes and on initial recognition of
the investment, the Group elects to designate
the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in “Fair value reserve (non-recycling)” in equity.
Such elections are made on an instrument-
by-instrument basis, but only be made if the
investment meets the definition of equity from
the issuer’s perspective.

The equity instruments at FVOCI are not subject
to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or
loss in “Fair value reserve (non-recycling)” will not
be reclassified to profit or loss upon disposal of
the equity investments, and will be transferred to
accumulated losses.

Dividends from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss
when the Group's right to receive the dividends
is established. Dividends are included in “Other
income” in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 - FE——F+—-A=+—HIFFZ

2. SUNMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cContinued)

2.5

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities

Classification and measurement of financial
liabilities

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and
other payables, amount due to a director and
lease liabilities.

Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities)
are initially measured at fair value, and, where
applicable, adjusted for transaction costs unless
the Group designated a financial liability at FVTPL.

Subsequently, financial liabilities (other than
lease liabilities) are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method except for
derivatives which are not designated as hedging
instruments in hedge relationships and financial
liabilities designated at FVTPL, which are carried
subsequently at fair value with gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss.

All interest-related charges are included in finance
costs.

Accounting policies of lease liabilities are set out
in note 2.10.

Trade and other payables and amount due to a
director

Trade and other payables and amount due to a
director are recognised initially at their fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RR I

for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —FE——F+ - A=+—HIFFZF

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6

Impairment of financial assets and

contract assets

HKFRS 9’s impairment requirements use forward-
looking information to recognise ECL — the "ECL
model”. Instruments within the scope included
loans and other debt-type financial assets
measured at amortised cost, trade receivables and
contract assets recognised and measured under
HKFRS 15.

The Group considers a broader range of
information when assessing credit risk and
measuring ECL, including past events, current
conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts
that affect the expected collectability of the future
cash flows of the instrument.

In applying this forward-looking approach, a
distinction is made between:

- financial instruments that have not
deteriorated significantly in credit quality
since initial recognition or that have low
credit risk (“Stage 1") and

- financial instruments that have deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial
recognition and whose credit risk is not low
("Stage 2").

“Stage 3" would cover financial assets that have
objective evidence of impairment at the reporting
date.

“12-month ECL" are recognised for the Stage 1
category while “lifetime ECL" are recognised for
the Stage 2 category.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

for the year ended 31 December 2021 &2 =& —

2.

66

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6

Impairment of financial assets and

contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a
probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over
the expected life of the financial instrument.

Trade receivables and contract assets

For trade receivables and contract assets, the
Group applies a simplified approach in calculating
ECL and recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECL at each reporting date. These are
the expected shortfalls in contractual cash flows,
considering the potential for default at any point
during the life of the financial assets. In calculating
the ECL, the Group has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience and external indicators, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables and
contract assets has been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the days past
due. The contract assets relate to unbilled work
in progress and have substantially the same risk
characteristics as the trade receivables for the
same types of contracts. The Group has therefore
concluded that the ECL rates for trade receivables
are a reasonable approximation of the loss rates
for the contract assets.

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group measures the loss allowance for other
receivables equal to 12-month ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increase in the likelihood or risk of default
occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RR I

for the year ended 31 December 2021 &% —&F —

2. SUNMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cContinued)

2.6

Impairment of financial assets and

contract assets (Continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost
(Continued)

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial assets at the reporting date with the
risk of default occurring on the financial assets
at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience
and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

- an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

- significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

- existing or forecast adverse changes in
regulatory, business, financial,
conditions, or technological environment
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations; and

economic

- an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 - FE——F+—-A=+—HIFFZ

2.

68

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6

Impairment of financial assets and

contract assets (Continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost
(Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes
that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition if
the debt instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the end of each reporting period. A
debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk if it has a low risk of default, the borrower has
strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and adverse changes
in economic and business conditions in the longer
term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfill its contractual cash
flow obligations.

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when (i)
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collateral
held by the Group); or (i) the financial assets is 90
days past due.

Detailed analysis of the ECL assessment of trade
receivables, contract assets and other financial
assets measured at amortised cost are set out in
note 34.4.

Yu Tak International Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2021

2.6

TRHEENGNEEZREE)

TR NGt BRI E M A E
(&)

T FENER  AEER
E O BAANKREBIEE308
AEE R R B 2R IARE K&
B RIFAREBERERAISEE
FEERRRIE Rl -

BEML - WEKTARES2HRHA
AREER/REERERERR - AIK
SEREZEBILANGEERRE
VI HERIARIL EAME LT - (&
BTANENRBREIE  BIRETE
REERRRE @ RERABBRK
EIREHARTEANRERE
BE - MR RBALEREBRR
MANMZESHE(BEN—ES)HIS
ERABRTEANREREETH

o,
BE ©

RABEERREEMS @ A%
B R AE A E )N EL S E 3
BIINAREHERBTERATK
AR mAGERA(BIERER)
B CRET R AN & B i A ] 37
) skiNZESMEED BARERA
QORBFEEA -

ERRWE SRR aHEENRZ
B ENEMCEREERY
EEERTGOFADD T EHNME
34.4 -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RR I

for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —FE——F+ - A=+—HIFFZF

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FESHTBEEME®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.7 Inventories 27 B©E
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and FEIUKANEN SR FEMED 2
net realisable value and are determined using the WIKEVERERLERE B EE
first in, first out basis. Net realisable value is the F oo AIEBFEEABD R ESARD
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of ZAETHEERRERABEERAX -

business less the applicable selling expenses.

2.8 Cash and cash equivalents 28 HERREZEEY
Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank B NRESEBYRERITERN
and in hand. B -

2.9 Contract assets and contract liabilities 29 BHREEREHERE
A contract asset is recognised when the Group =N E BN IRIE A GOSN SIS
recognises revenue before being unconditionally (AR WA B 2 BT A
entitled to the consideration under the payment B BERAKNEE - SHEER
terms set out in the contract. Contract assets M2 FTE S TR S
are assessed for ECL in accordance with the B - WU I B R A
policy set out in note 2.6 and are reclassified to R B I DA RIS o

receivables when the right to the consideration
has become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the w2 SR EBEEZEBRARS
customer pays consideration before the Group RRER - BERALEE - M
recognises the related revenue. A contract liability AEBBEIEEBURATIAEEE &
would also be recognised if the Group has an (EEREF B - TS RERA 4
unconditional right to receive consideration before B  ERIERT @ T¥RERIEE
the Group recognises the related revenue. In such FEYERIE o

cases, a corresponding receivable would also be

recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either RS — AL AN AR RE
a net contract asset or a net contract liability is KON BEEEIY] o WNLIELS
presented. For multiple contracts, contract assets % THEBHANZANEERS
and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are MEBETe L SEAEERT o

not presented on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 - FE——F+—-A=+—HIFFZ

2.

70

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cContinued)

2.10 Leases
Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee

At inception of a contract, the Group considers
whether a contract is, or contains a lease. A lease
is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that
conveys the right to use an identified asset (the
underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange
for consideration’. To apply this definition, the
Group assesses whether the contract meets three
key evaluations which are whether:

the contract contains an identified asset,
which is either explicitly identified in the
contract or implicitly specified by being
identified at the time the asset is made
available to the Group;

the Group has the right to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits
from use of the identified asset throughout
the period of use, considering its rights
within the defined scope of the contract;
and

the Group has the right to direct the use
of the identified asset throughout the
period of use. The Group assess whether
it has the right to direct "how and for what
purpose’ the asset is used throughout the
period of use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RR I

for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —FE——F+ - A=+—HIFFZF

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Leases (Continued)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee
(Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a
lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability on the consolidated statement of financial
position. The right-of-use asset is measured at
cost, which is made up of the initial measurement
of the lease liability, any initial direct costs
incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset at the
end of the lease, and any lease payments made in
advance of the lease commencement date (net of
any lease incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a
straight-line basis from the lease commencement
date to the earlier of the end of the useful life
of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease
term unless the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership at the end of the lease term.
The Group also assesses the right-of-use asset for
impairment when such indicator exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures
the lease liability at the present value of the lease
payments unpaid at that date, discounted using
the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group's
incremental borrowing rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 - FE——F+—-A=+—HIFFZ

2.

72

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Leases (Continued)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee
(Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a
lessee (Continued)

Lease payments included in the measurement of
the lease liability are made up of fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable payments
based on an index or rate, and amounts expected
to be payable under a residual value guarantee.
The lease payments also include the exercise
price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payment of penalties
for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects
the Group exercising the option to terminate.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability
will be reduced for lease payments made and
increased for interest cost on the lease liability.
It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or
lease modification, or if there are changes in in-
substance fixed payments. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as expense in the period on
which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.

When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding
adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or
profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is already
reduced to zero.

The Group has elected to account for short-term
leases using the practical expedients. Instead of
recognising a right-of-use asset and lease liability,
the payments in relation to these leases are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. Short-term
leases are leases with a lease term of 12 month
or less.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RR I

for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —FE——F+ - A=+—HIFFZF

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FEESTHEHMES)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Leases (Continued) 210 #HE#E)
Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee HEZFEZHRAEEIEREHEA
(Continued) (%)
Measurement and recognition of leases as a EARFANFERERAHE (&)
lessee (Continued)
Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for ENAROEERSBEEENE
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. EREAFIFAR  WHFHEA
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition AEEFE - ITHERBTZAAE
are considered as additional lease payments and BENFAERRAEIESNR - I
included in the cost of right-of-use assets. FTAEAEEE ZKAR ©

2.11 Provisions 211 BfE
Provisions are recognised when the Group has EARKE TR BT A 2 F
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a BEEECEENHETE) - WAIEEER
result of a past event, and it is probable that an TEBEMNZUNBITERE  MEES
outflow of economic benefits will be required to R B Al Sefhat - BURERREE o
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the EEEREEAN  JBERERSRE
amount of the obligation can be made. Where TEEXHZBENEE -

the time value of money is material, provisions
are stated at the present value of the expenditure
expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date FIEREYNS EMRA R - I
and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. FREBARMIRRE  SEGE -
2.12 Share capital 212 IR

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. LR TR AR - WAKRE
Share capital is recognised at the amount of TR EBLEER - ZHI%
consideration of shares issued, after deducting B B2 2% 1T A% 1 #E BE MO R B AR A
any transaction costs associated with the issuing (B ERABEASHER) AR
of shares (net of any related income tax benefit) XA EAEZRFEEEEZE
to the extent they are incremental costs directly ALK o

attributable to the equity transaction.
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2.

74

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cContinued)

2.13 Revenue recognition

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the
Group follows a b-step process:

1. Identifying the contract with a customer

2. Identifying the performance obligations

3. Determining the transaction price

4. Allocating the transaction price to the

performance obligations

5y Recognising revenue when/as performance
obligation(s) are satisfied

In all cases, the total transaction price for
a contract is allocated amongst the various
performance obligations based on their relative
stand-alone selling prices. The transaction price
for a contract excludes any amounts collected on
behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time
or over time, when (or as) the Group satisfies
performance obligations by transferring the
promised goods or services to its customers.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

Jewellery Products

(a) Revenue from the sales of gold and
jewellery products for a fixed fee is
recognised when or as the Group transfers
control of the assets to the customer.

(b) Franchise income is recognised on an
accrual basis over the terms of the relevant
franchise agreements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RR I

for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —FE——F+ - A=+—HIFFZF

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FEESTHERHEE®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.13 Revenue recognition (Continued) 2.13 WARR(HE)
IT Products and Services Bl B E an K AR
(a) Enterprise software products (@) EREFE
Revenue from the development of 2% B AT B A UL A BB sy
customised software is recognised over R ZEEAAEENEYD
time as the Group's performance creates BlE R IG R B PIEHNE
and enhances an asset that the customer E - TRERBHETNE
controls. The progress towards complete EhkEHAstE - BB
satisfaction of a performance obligation BEHESEESDHEETR
is measured based on output method, FPHREEE  BEEHT
which is to recognise revenue on the basis EFHEREHRBEBERERK
of direct measurements of the value of A BT ERERRASE
the services transferred to the customer B p 88 TR Bk AR A 12 4
to date relative to the services promised FHERNBENER °

under the contract, that best depict the
Group's performance in transferring control
of goods or services.

When the outcome of the contract cannot EAANGERELSIEE
be reasonably measured, revenue is B EIRTEHSA FIRENE
recognised only to the extent of contract EEE KA EREA °
costs incurred that are expected to be

recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the MM BEET TR AR
contract are estimated to exceed the RABBENFHGRES
remaining amount of the consideration o AIRBEBSGFTERZE
under the contract, a provision is 7R -

recognised in accordance with HKAS 37.

Warranties associated with enterprise B EE I EDEBER
software products cannot be purchased W:{E' BEEEE - HREY
separately and are served as an assurance FrEERFE B ERECA
that the products sold comply with agreed- IRBFAVER ) MIRE o &
upon specifications (i.e. assurance- It AEERBEEES

type warranties). Accordingly, the Group BIZE375%  #4% - skARBRE
accounts for warranties in accordance with REKAREE B ERARK -

HKAS 37 "Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets”.
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2.

76

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.13 Revenue recognition (Continued)

IT Products and Services (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Enterprise software products (Continued)

Maintenance service income is recognised
on a straight-line basis over the terms of
the relevant maintenance service contracts.

Professional services

Professional services income are
recognised in the period when the services
are provided.

Others

(a)

Consultancy and management fee income
in respect of technical support, consultancy
services and management services are
recognised in the period when services are
rendered.

Interest income is recognised on a time
proportion basis using the effective interest
method. For financial assets measured at
amortised cost that are not credit-impaired,
the effective interest rate is applied to the
gross carrying amount of the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.14 Government grants

2.15

Grants from the government are recognised
at their fair value where there is a reasonable
assurance that the grant will be received and the
Group will comply with all attached conditions.
Government grants are deferred and recognised in
profit or loss over the period necessary to match
them with the costs that the grants are intended
to compensate.

Government grants relating to income is
presented in gross under “Other income” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The following assets are subject to impairment
testing:

o Property, plant and equipment;
° Right-of-use assets; and
o The Company’s interests in subsidiaries.

The assets are tested for impairment whenever
there are indications that the asset’s carrying
amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset's
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value,
reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal,
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset.
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2.

78

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.15

Impairment of non-financial assets
(Continued)

For the purposes of assessing impairment,
where an asset does not generate cash inflows
largely independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generate cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).
As a result, some assets are tested individually
for impairment and some are tested at cash-
generating unit level. Corporate assets are
allocated to individual cash-generating units, when
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be identified, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of cash-generating units for
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be identified.

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating
units is charged pro rata to the assets in the cash-
generating unit, except that the carrying value of
an asset will not be reduced below its individual
fair value less cost of disposal, or value in use, if
determinable.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the asset's recoverable amount
and only to the extent that the asset’s carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation
or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been
recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FESHEEBE®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.16 Employee benefits 216 EERF

Retirement benefits

Retirement benefits to employees are provided
through defined contribution plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution
retirement benefit plan under the Mandatory
Provident Fund (“MPF") Schemes Ordinance, for
all of its employees who are eligible to participate
in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in the PRC, Taiwan and Malaysia are
required to participate in the central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to
contribute certain percentage of their payroll costs
to the central pension scheme.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in
profit or loss as employees rendered services
during the year. The Group's obligations under
these plans are limited to the fixed percentage
contributions payable.

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as
sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised
until the time of leave.
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2.

80

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Accounting for income taxes

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred
tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities
comprise those obligations to, or claims from,
fiscal authorities relating to the current or prior
reporting period, that are unpaid at the reporting
date. They are calculated according to the tax
rates and tax laws applicable to the fiscal periods
to which they relate, based on the taxable profit
for the year. All changes to current tax assets or
liabilities are recognised as a component of tax
expense in profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability
method on temporary differences at the end
of the reporting period between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and their respective tax bases.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, tax losses available to be carried
forward as well as other unused tax credits, to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit,
including existing taxable temporary differences,
will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses and
unused tax credits can be utilised.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FEE;
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

BRI E (&)

=111 4

217 FBHRZERIEE)

2.17 Accounting for income taxes (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither taxable nor
accounting profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting,
at tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period the liability is settled or the asset realised,
provided they are enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss, or in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity if they
relate to items that are charged or credited to
other comprehensive income or directly to equity.

When different tax rates apply to different levels
of taxable income, deferred tax assets and
liabilities are measured using the average tax rates
that are expected to apply to the taxable income
of the periods in which the temporary differences
are expected to reverse.
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2.

82

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Accounting for income taxes (Continued)

The determination of the average tax rates
requires an estimation of (i) when the existing
temporary differences will reverse and (ii) the
amount of future taxable profit in those years. The
estimate of future taxable profit includes:

- income or loss excluding reversals of

temporary differences; and

- reversals of existing temporary differences.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are
presented in net if, and only if:

(a) the Group has the legally enforceable right
to set off the recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Accounting for income taxes (Continued)

The Group presents deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities in net if, and only if:

(a)

(b)

the entity has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities; and

the deferred tax assets and the deferred
tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either:

(i) the same taxable entity; or

(ii) different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax
liabilities and assets on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously, in each
future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.
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2.

84

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and
prepares segment information based on the
regular internal financial information reported
to the executive directors for their decisions
about resources allocation to the Group's
business components and for their review of the
performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information
reported to the executive directors are determined
following the Group’s major product and service
lines.

The Group has identified the following reportable
segments:

o Jewellery Products: design and sales of
gold and jewellery products

o IT Products and Services: provision of
information technology and professional
services and sales of products including
enterprise software products

Each of these operating segments is managed
separately as each of the product and service lines
requires different resources as well as marketing
approaches. All inter-segment transfers are carried
out at arm’s length prices.

The measurement policies the Group uses
for reporting segment results under HKFRS 8
“Operating Segments” are the same as those
used in its financial statements prepared under
HKFRSs.

No asymmetrical allocations have been applied to
reportable segments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cContinued)

2.19 Related parties

For the purposes of these consolidated financial
statements, a party is considered to be related to
the Group if:

(a) the party is a person, or a close member of
that person’s family and if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the
Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a
parent of the Group.

(b) the party is an entity and if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are
members of the same group.

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or
an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint
ventures of the same third party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Related parties (Continued)

(b)

the party is an entity and if any of the
following conditions applies: (Continued)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

one entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.

the entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a).

a person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their
dealings with the entity.
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3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED
HKFRSs

Amended HKFRSs that are effective for annual
periods beginning on 1 January 2021

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first
time the following amended HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA, which are relevant to the Group's operations
and effective for the Group’'s consolidated financial
statements for the annual period beginning on 1 January
2021:

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent

Concessions
Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform - Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

The adoption of the amended HKFRSs had no material
impact on how the results and financial position of
the Group for the current and prior periods have been
prepared and presented.
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3.

88

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED 3.

HKFRSs (continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated
financial statements, certain new and amended HKFRSs
have been published but are not yet effective, and have

not been adopted early by the Group.

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and

HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Accounting Guideline 5
(Revised)

Yu Tak International Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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related amendments?

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework*

Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an
Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture®

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30
June 2021°

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation
5 (2020)?

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies?

Definition of Accounting
Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction?

Property, Plant and
Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use'

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract’

Annual Improvements to
HKFRS Standards 2018-
2020

Merger Accounting for
Common Control
Combination*
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3.
HKFRSs (continued)

e e e = e Y

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED 3.

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2022

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023

Effective date not yet determined

Effective for business combination/common control
combination for which the acquisition/combination date
is on or after the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2022

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April

2021

The directors of the Company anticipate that all of
the pronouncements will be adopted in the Group's
accounting policy for the first period beginning on or after

the effective date of the pronouncement.

Information

on new and amended HKFRSs that are expected to
have impact on the Group's accounting policies is
provided below. Other new and amended HKFRSs are
not expected to have a material impact on the Group's

consolidated financial statements.
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3.

90

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED 3.

HKFRSs (continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement
2 “Disclosure of Accounting Policies”

The amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose
material accounting policy information instead of
significant accounting policies in its financial statements.
The amendments also provide some guidance on how
material policy information are being identified and
provide some examples of when accounting policy
information is likely to be material.

In March 2021, HKICPA issued HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 “Making Materiality Judgements” to provide
entities with non-mandatory guidance on how to make
materiality judgements when preparing their general
purpose financial statements in accordance with HKFRS.
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 was subsequently revised
to provide guidance and examples on how to apply the
concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures.

The amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual
reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and
are applied prospectively. Earlier application is permitted.
Except for the disclosures of accounting policies in note
2 to consolidated financial statements may need to be
revised to cope with the above changes, the directors
expect that the amendments have no other material
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31 December 2021 &% — & ——

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 4.

AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below:

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

If circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a
long lived asset may not be recoverable, the asset may
be considered “impaired” and an impairment loss may
be recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment
of Assets”.

These assets are tested for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that their
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. When such a
decline has occurred, the carrying amount is reduced to
the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value
in use.

In determining the value in use, expected cash flows
generated by the assets are discounted to their present
value, which requires significant estimation.

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
were HK$1,323,000 (2020: HK$2,384,000) (note 14) and
HK$836,000 (2020: HK$1,326,000) (note 15) respectively.
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4.

92

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 4.

AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Estimation of fair value of financial instruments

not traded in an active market

As at 31 December 2021, financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market including unlisted equity
investments and unlisted private equity fund were carried
at fair value of HK$23,776,000 (2020: HK$22,638,000)
and HK$447,000 (2020: HK$464,000) respectively. The
fair values are determined by using valuation techniques,
details of which are set out in note 34.6. This involves
developing estimates and assumptions consistent with
how market participants would price the instrument. The
Group bases its assumptions on observable data as far
as possible but this is not always available. In that case
the Group uses the best information available. Estimated
fair values may vary from the actual prices that would be
achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting
date.

Estimation of impairment of trade receivables,
other receivables and deposits and contract
assets within the scope of ECL

The Group makes allowances on items subjects to
ECL (including trade receivables, other receivables and
deposits and contract assets) based on assumptions
about risk of default and expected loss rates. The
Group uses judgement in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’'s past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at
the end of each reporting period as set out in note
2.6. As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amounts
of trade receivables, other receivables and deposits,
and contract assets amounted to HK$9,348,000 (2020:
HK$6,144,000) (note 20), HK$4,773,000 (per note 34.1)
(2020: HK$13,106,000) (note 21) and HK$2,743,000 (2020:
HK$3,460,000) (note 19) respectively.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 4.

AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Estimation of impairment of trade receivables,
other receivables and deposits and contract
assets within the scope of ECL (Continued)

When the actual future cash flows are different from
expected, such difference will impact the carrying
amount of trade receivables and other items within the
scope of ECL under HKFRS 9 and credit losses in the
periods in which such estimate has been changed.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories of gold and jewellery
products is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less selling expenses. These
estimates are based on the current market condition
and the historical experience of selling products of
similar nature. It could change significantly as a result
of changes in customer taste and competitor actions in
response to severe industry cycle.

Management reassesses these estimates at the end
of each reporting period. As at 31 December 2021, the
carrying amount of inventories was HK$46,858,000 (2020:
HK$61,554,000) (note 18).
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5.

94

REVENUE

The Group’s principal activities are disclosed in note 1
to these consolidated financial statements. The Group's
revenue recognised during the year is as follows:

5. WA

AEBEZFEXBEZSHRAVBHEREW
HRE - ARBFACHERZBWANT

2021 2020

—E-—F —EEF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHT FHIT

Sales of gold and jewellery products &4 RIEEEDHE 23,503 9,876
Franchise income LS INEEE =Sl PN = 18
Sales of enterprise software products b2 82 RE 13,340 13,328
Provision of professional services TR AR 4,518 25,989
41,361 49,211
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5.

REVENUE (Continued) 5. WA@®
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with EEMBHREEAFEISFEHEEARE
customers within the scope of HKFRS 15 EEESHZIRADE
The Group derives revenue from the transfer of AEFEUTEFEE D RREERHE T
goods and services over time and at a point in time SRR RREEEEEEE R MRGE
in the following major product and services lines and S PNE
geographical market:
Sales of
Sales of gold enterprise  Provision of
and jewellery Franchise software  professional
products income products services Total
BELRKE BEMEE PERE Rt
Em#E WA Em#HE BERYE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TR TR THET TR
2021 —EC-F
Timing of revenue recognition AR
At a point in time RS 23,503 - - - 23,503
Over time RERE - - 13,340 4,518 17,858
23,503 - 13,340 4518 41,361
Geographical markets HEMHE
Hong Kong BE - - 7,078 - 7,078
PRC and Taiwan PERAE 23,503 - 3,965 4517 31,985
Southeast Asia ®iam - - 2,297 1 2,298
23,503 - 13,340 4,518 41,361
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—F=—

—=

— A= +— AR

REVENUE (Continued) 5. WA@®@
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts EEMBHREELFEISFEEEARE
with customers within the scope of HKFRS 15 BEEEHAZWADEE)
(Continued)
Sales of
Sales of gold enterprise  Provision of
and jewellery Franchise software  professional
products income products services Total
BERAE  BiTMEE EHH Rt
EmiE KA EmiiE EERE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT AT THEL TAT TAT
2020 ke Sl 312
Timing of revenue recognition WARBRERE
At a point in time RE R 9,876 - - - 9,876
Over time RER - 18 13,328 25,989 39,335
9,876 18 13,328 25,989 49,211
Geographical markets HETS
Hong Kong &k - - 6,526 - 6,526
PRC and Taiwan hERAE 9,876 18 4,999 25,989 40,882
Southeast Asia R - - 1,803 - 1,803
9,876 18 13,328 25,989 49,211
The geographical location of customers is based on the BPEAEME 2 o B IEIREAE RS
location at which the services were provided or the SEXMHEEERZIMEME
goods were delivered.
SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. ABER

The executive directors of the Company, being the chief
operating decision maker, have identified the following
products and service lines as operating segments.
Details of which are further described in note 2.18.

These operating segments are monitored and strategic
decisions are made on the basis of adjusted segment

operating results.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

6. oEHEBR(#®

Jewellery IT Products
Products and Services Total
BB
HKEEM Emk k% st
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET F#E T F#&T
2021 —E-—fF
Revenue — From external WA — 2R B HN 3B
customers BE 23,503 17,858 41,361
Reportable segment revenue T 235 UK A 23,503 17,858 41,361
Reportable segment (loss)/ HIRFIEHA T2
profit before income tax HoE(EE),
EF (9,560) 740 (8,820)
Bank interest income HRITH B ES 9 8 17
Depreciation e (1,110) (305) (1,415)
ECL allowance on trade FEWE ZERR
receivables, other receivables  E th JE U I8 &
and deposits, and contract BEUAREL
assets BEZEHBEE
[Esia (109) (94) (203)
Net loss on disposal/written e EE
off of property, plant and R K&t 2 F
equipment & - (218) (218)
Finance costs BI%E R (31) (22) (53)
Write-down of inventories to  HURF &S ZE A&7
net realisable value, net of FE - RN
reversal (4,986) - (4,986)
Reportable segment assets T 2S5 PEE 288,319 67,119 355,438
Additions to non-current FARNED I IE
segment assets (other than mREBEE(ERT
financial instruments) during AN
the year 12 68 80
Reportable segment 2R EEE
liabilities 12,102 234,817 246,919
“Eo AN GEEMBRARAT 07
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6.

98

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

6. DEER(E)

Jewellery IT Products
Products and Services Total
AR
HREEM 7 on S AR 75 H5T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T
2020 T
Revenue — From external WA — 3R 8 AR
customers = 9,894 39,317 49,211
Reportable segment revenue T 25 U A 9,894 39,317 49,211
Reportable segment (loss)/  HIRFFEBHAT T2
profit before income tax B IW(EE),
g (10,694) 1,451 (9,243)
Interest income F B U ER 10 11 21
Depreciation e (1,207) (451) (1,658)
ECL allowance on trade BUINE SRR TE
receivables HZEEERE (153) - (153)
Net loss on disposal/written HeE HEEE
off of property, plant and B E K& 5
equipment =g (244) (8) (252)
Finance costs B &R (18) (14) (32)
Write-down of inventories to MU FEZ r] #17
net realisable value FE (2,181) - (2,181)
Reportable segment assets T 2D PEE 300,006 65,827 365,833
Additions to non-current FRAEDEZIE
segment assets (other than mHEE(SmIT
financial instruments) during AN
the year 1,098 680 1,778
Reportable segment AE2RoBEE
liabilities 15,890 234,459 250,349
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6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The totals presented for the Group's operating segments
reconcile to the Group's key financial figures as
presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position are as follows:

6.

DEER (&)

AEBZRENH2I 2 BBRELZRS M
RAKTEIN 2 A EEEERBER Y
BRInR

2021 2020

=B —F —ECERE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Reportable segment assets A2 EBEE 355,438 365,833
Eliminated upon consolidation RE ARRE L8 (224,954) (224,954)
Group assets rEECEE 130,484 140,879
Reportable segment liabilities 22BN etk 246,919 250,349
Eliminated upon consolidation ERE ANBRER £ 85 (224,954) (224,954)
Group liabilities rEBzEE 21,965 25,395

The Group's non-current assets (other than financial
instruments) are divided into the following geographical
areas:

AEBZIERBDEE(SRTARRIN IR
ToseEE s

2021 2020

—EB-—F —E-FTF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHBT FHEIT

Hong Kong a5 1,070 1,782
PRC and Taiwan FERAE 989 1,735
Southeast Asia R 100 193
2,159 3,710

The geographical location of the non-current assets is
based on the physical location of the assets.

FRBDEEIHRDBINERNRETEEL
BERPIAEMME °
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6.

100

—— = A=+ —BILEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEEBR#®
Revenue from customers which individually contributed BARMERNEEHEE S - —FEH T —F
over 10% of the Group's revenue during the years ended FE+-A=1t—HILFEEKRAI10% A LK
31 December 2021 and 2020 is as follows: KEREMWALT ¢
2021 2020
—E-—fF —ECERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T T
Customer A' ZEA 9,162 6,251
Customer B! =B 6,020 N/A* 38 A *
Customer C' =FC 5,286 N/A* 35 A
Customer D2 = FED? N/A* 738 F * 9,397
Customer E? ZPE? N/A* 138 i * 9,119
Customer F2 ZPEF? N/A* R 1E i * 4,999
1 Revenue from Jewellery Products segment. ' REKBERDBIWA °
2 Revenue from IT Products and Services segment. 2 REEMBHRE R &ﬁlﬁﬁ%”‘ﬂz%)\ o
The corresponding revenue did not individually contribute ! HEBAN ISR EBEE
over 10% of the Group's revenue during the years —FRE_TF+_A=+— E|Jk¢
ended 31 December 2021 or 2020. BWAT0% A L -
OTHER INCOME 7. EHkzs
2021 2020
—E-—F ZEETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FAET
Bank interest income RITH B U as 17 21
Consultancy and management fee BEM R EE BN
income 376 240
Foreign exchange gain, net b 5 e 5 5R 1,247 2,258
Government subsidies (note) BT R EA (B 3E) = 989
Others EHAfth 772 671
2,412 4179
Note: BiRE -

For the year ended 31 December 2020, included in the
government subsidies of HK$690,000 was the wage subsidies
received from the Hong Kong SAR Government and PRC
Provincial Government as a result of the outbreak of COVID-19.

There were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to

these subsidies.
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8. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE 8. EEGIBMXX(BREESHM)
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
EMOLUMENTS)
2021 2020
—B-—F —T_TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#E T T
Wages, salaries and other benefits T4  HFeRHEMER 13,641 20,407
Pension costs — defined contribution R{K& KA — FEEMFET 2]
plans 1,192 2,070
14,833 22,477
Note: BitsE

Due to the impact of COVID-19, a number of policies including
the relief of social insurance have been promulgated by the
PRC Provincial Government from February to December 2020
to expedite resumption of economic activities, which resulted in
the relief of certain contributions to defined contribution scheme
during the year ended 31 December 2020.

At 31 December 2021, the Group had no forfeited contributions
available to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in
future years (2020: HK$ nil).

XHEREYE BNE_Z_TF_ARE
TABEMEEEEREBIREEZEBE - U
MREEFBSER LK - SHE-_FT_FF+
TAZtT-RLEFEAE T ERMN IR
ERR

RZZBZ—F+ZA=+—0  FAEEVEE
YR WA SR AT DA R A 12 4F B B0 3R AR AT B AR
i
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—E——fFf+ - A=+—HIFFE

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 9. HIRFEBHAIEE
Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging/ HMBRAT SR AT EIBE R, (BT A):
(crediting):
2021 2020
—E-—-F ke e 22
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THETT
Depreciation: e
— owned assets —HBEEE 908 1,091
- right-of-use assets —[FREEE 507 567
Total depreciation eEBEE 1,415 1,658
Other expenses: HEMpX
Auditor’'s remuneration ZER AN BN &
— Audit services —ZE R 860 620
Net loss on disposal/written off of HEMEME  BERXEZF
property, plant and equipment &1 218 252
Lease charges in respect of short REAENHEERR
term leases 195 903
Legal and professional fees FERRBEEER 1,525 1,671
Other expenses HEFsE 3,203 4,795
Total other expenses HE A E%E 6,001 8,241
Cost of inventories recognised as an MR AMYHEFERAN - 85F
expense, including: 22,534 8,509
— write-down of inventories to net —WoRFEEERFE - %K
realisable value, net of reversal o 4,986 2,181
Cost of services rendered (note) RMARTE A A (FEE) 16,439 38,178
ECL allowance on trade receivables, JEWE SR « W ZFIER
other receivables and deposits, and RS URAEHNEECTRIEE
contract assets BIRRE 203 153
Foreign exchange gain, net PE 5, W #5558 (1,247) (2,258)
Note: BfsE -
Cost of services rendered included staff costs of HK$8,885,000 12 4 BR FE A AN B 4 B T Ak 458,885,000 7T.( —
(2020: HK$16,615,000), which amount is also included in T -F4F :16,615,00007T)  ZE I AR

employee benefits expense (note 8).

BEMF X (HMEs) °
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e e e = e Y

10. FINANCE COSTS MBE R
2021 2020
:_$ — 7 —= ¢
HK$°000 HK$'000
FE T FATT
Finance charges on lease liabilities ~ FBEAGEZMBEXL L 53 32
11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE . FISHAX
2021 2020
=B —F —ECERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi& T FAT
Current tax — Overseas BUEARRIE — 5
Current year NEE 88 14
Under provision in prior years BAFERETR = 67
Total income tax expense FrisBiF 8 88 81
Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided as the RBE_Z_—FR-_ZT_TF+_A=

Group had no assessable profits subject to Hong Kong
Profits Tax for the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2020.

Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations of the
PRC, the subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to PRC
Enterprise Income Tax at a rate of 25% for the years
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

Taxation on overseas profits has been calculated on the
estimated assessable profits for the year at the rates of
taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

+—HILFEE - EF$EEEM%%%%
MEHHERT S - WL ERBENG
TRaT IR o

WRIR A B 2 FT1S BLAR Bl R A6 B - B A Bt
BRANBE-ZZ-_—FR-_ZT-_FF+
A=+ B LFERERE25%HMMF
BEMEH -

850 R B YIRS S R BL

R BT R T T O R AT
e
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11.

104

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 11. IEHREAX @)
Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting loss ERAMEGSHIER Y Lot ERETY
at applicable tax rates: BE -
2021 2020
—EBE-F —TETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
& T FHEIT
Loss before income tax MR TSR R E R (8,820) (9,243)
Tax on loss before income tax, LN B AR el A R E RN &
calculated at the rates applicable Mk B8 2 MR E 2 kR P
to profits or losses in the tax EBRBER A
jurisdiction concerned (1,696) (1,069)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses A HIEF = 2~ i 18 57 28 2,593 882
Tax effect of non-taxable revenue BARMBAZRIBZE (406) (540)
Tax effect of temporary differences RIERERERE T HIEGE
not recognised 92 96
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised FRIERTRIBEIE 2 HIETE 652 1,171
Utilisation of tax losses previously not {# [ 5t B AR FER T IE 518
recognised (1,147) (526)
Under provision in prior years BAEFERETR = 67
Income tax expense FrigBif X 88 81
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e

for the year ended 31 December 2021 &% — & ——

11.

12.

B RS RaR MR

e e e = e Y

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 11. Fi88iE%»®)
At 31 December 2021, the Group had unrecognised NR-E-—F+-A=+—H  KAEEE
tax losses of approximately HK$65,048,000 (2020: RUERT I E 1B 4965,048,000/8 T (=—ZE =
HK$79,997,000) to carry forward against future T4 79,997,000/ T ) &#E - AIEEKER
taxable income. These tax losses do not expire under RIEZRFILA o M EFEEIEREIRRE
current legislation except tax losses of approximately fijﬁT/‘\Fﬁ MR B ET 8 4920,743,000
HK$20,743,000 (2020: HK$35,889,000) will be expired as BIL(ZZE ZFF : 35,889,000 1) iR
follows: T EAfE Em ¢
2021 2020
—B-—F —ETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Year of expiry: [EWmEE
2021 —E-—F - 13,5697
2022 —=E-= 6,603 6,426
2023 :Z:_$ 5,089 4,999
2024 ZEPOEF 4,047 6,238
2025 —ZE-RF 3,494 4,629
2026 —ERE 1,510 -
20,743 35,889
LOSS PER SHARE 12. BREE

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on
the loss attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$8,908,000 (2020: HK$8,717,000) and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 1,947,690,000
(2020: 1,947,690,000) in issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020 were the same as basic loss per share as
there is no dilutive potential ordinary share in existence
during the year.

ZECFFHR HEERERERAR

EREABEEDERAIRGESR AR
i B518 8,908,000 8 ( Z T =T F :
8,717,000 L) L F N E 47 L @A N
W5 801,947,690 OOOHQ(_? —ZEF:
1,947,690,0008% )5t &

MR ERYELBER BT 2 BB - &
BE_Z_—FR-_ZT_TF+_A=t
—HLFE  SRESHERASNERE
REHR -
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for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 - FE——F+—-A=+—HIFFZ

13. DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS AND 13. EEFMREBRESHFIMA L

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS'’ 2 %

EMOLUMENTS

13.1 Directors’ emoluments 13.1 EEHM
Directors’ emoluments, disclosed pursuant to EEHFMDBEBEGEM EMARA -
the GEM Listing Rules, section 383(1) of the EBNAEEIBNERL AT (K
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of BESNRER) RO E 2B E L0
the Companies (Disclosure of Information about T

Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

Other emoluments

Hiti <
Contributions
to defined
Directors’  Salaries and  contribution
fees allowances plan Total
TEHEMR
=0 HERER TR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
2021 —E--F
Executive directors: HTES:
Mr. Chong Yu Ping HERETEE - 678 18 696
Ms. Li Xia (note) FExT (M) - 1,047 101 1,148
Mr. Chen Yin BRELE - 540 16 556
Independent non-executive ~ BUEHTEE
directors:
Mr. Lam Tin Faat MRELE 180 - - 180
Ms. Na Xin AeT 2t 120 - - 120
Ms. Zhao Xiaxia HEEXL 120 - - 120
420 2,265 135 2,820
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e B RR I

for the year ended 31 December 2021 Bt —FE——F 1+ -HA=+—HI-FE

13. DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

13.1 Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

13. EEFMRAEZREHEMA L
ok 3 16D

13.1 EESFHM(E)

Other emoluments

Hi#e
Contributions
to defined
Directors' Salaries and contribution
fees allowances plan Total
TERMHT
EEvikn e Rz REES Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL TET T T
2020 “T-FE
Executive directors: BITESE .
Mr. Chong Yu Ping HEFLE - 600 18 618
Ms. Li Xia (note) FERT (M) - 984 100 1,084
Mr. Chen Yin BRELE - 534 16 550
Independent non-executive ~ BIUEHTEE .
directors:
Mr. Lam Tin Faat WRESE 180 = = 180
Ms. Na Xin AeT 2t 120 - - 120
Ms. Zhao Xiaxia HEEXT 120 - - 120
420 2,118 134 2,672
Note: BisE

Ms. Li Xia is also the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company and her emoluments disclosed above include
the services rendered by her as Chief Executive Officer.

FERETNRRARBITRAER  EXARER
ZHNBREEERTRERREHRARY
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13. DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

108

13.1

13.2

Yu Tak International Holdings Limited

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office
during the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2020.

There were no arrangements under which
a director waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020.

Five highest paid individuals’ emoluments

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group for the year included three
(2020: three) directors whose emoluments are
reflected in the analysis presented above. The
aggregate emoluments of the remaining two (2020:
two) individuals during the year are as follows:

13. EEFMREEESHFMA L
ok 3 1)

13.1

13.2

E=HME)

HE-_Z-_—GFR-_ZT-_ZTF+=
A=+—HLEFE A&EEWEM
ERMESZNHHIEAMALER
SN AR Bl 1% 2 22 Sk 1E A B B
fHE -

HE_Z - GRS _TF+—
A=+—HILHFE  TESEHRE
KR BRETMFHIM ZTHE

FEEBRSHMA L ZHMH

FR - AEBREAREFHALTE
B=%(ZZEZTF: ZR)EF -
HFEMEE LD HRER - FR
BTMEZ(CZE-ZEF WA )ES
A L2 HBAREDT

2021 2020
—E-—fF —ECEREF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&T FET
Salaries and allowances e MoERE 1,328 720
Contributions to defined TE R AT IR
contribution plan 36 30
1,364 750
The emoluments fell within the following band: FENEE -
Number of individuals
BT A
2021 2020
—E-—fF —E_TF
Emolument band: HINESE -
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z%1,000,000/8 7T 2 2
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for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —FE——F+ - A=+—HIFFZF

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

14. Y% - BMERRKRE

EQUIPMENT
Computer
Leasehold and office  Furniture and
improvements equipment fixtures  Motor vehicles Total
Bk
MEMEEE WRERE GIREE RE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT FAT THT T T
At 1 January 2020 R=B-2%-f-A
Cost B 2,329 10,781 571 4,498 18,179
Accumulated depreciation and ~ ZiHTERHESE
impairment losses (1,883) (10,593) (448) (1,942) (14,866)
Net book amountasat31 ~ R-B-ZF+-A=+-H
December 2020 HEEFE 446 188 123 2,556 BRI
Year ended 31 December HE_Z_ZF4_f
2020 =+-HILEE
Opening net book amount FUREFE 446 188 123 2,556 3,313
Exchange differences ERER 2 6 2 6 16
Additions NE 317 84 13 112 526
Disposal/Written off e/ HiH (236) (28) (94) (22) (380)
Depreciation & (252) (60) (16) (763) 1,091)
Closing net book amount FXREFE 277 190 28 1,889 2,384
At 31 December 2020 and 1 R=E-ZF+-A=+-A
January 2021 k=B--%£-8-H
Cost KA 2,115 10,778 420 4,199 17,512
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (1,838) (10,588) (392) 2,310) (15,128)
Net book amount EHFE 277 190 28 1,889 2,384
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 14. Y¥ - BMENRSZE )
EQUIPMENT (continued)
Computer
Leasehold and office  Furniture and
improvements equipment fixtures Motor vehicles Total
ElR
HEMEHEE WAZRE BRREE HE szt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TR T THT TR
Year ended 31 December BZ-_E-_-%+_AH
2021 St-ALEE
Opening net book amount FNERFE 271 190 28 1,889 2,384
Exchange differences EREE 4 4 1 4 13
Additions NE - 80 - - 80
Disposal/Written off e /M (141) (95) (10) - (246)
Depreciation & (76) (52) (2) (778) (908)
Closing net book amount EREEFE 64 127 17 1,115 1,323
At 31 December 2021 RZB=-£+ZA=+-H
Cost KA 1,650 9,369 416 4213 15,648
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (1,586) (9,242) (399) (3,098) (14,325)
Net book amount EHFE 64 127 17 1,115 1,323
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15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 15. FRAEEE
Land and
buildings
T REF
HK$°000
F#ET
At 1 January 2020 R=-EB=-ZH—-H—H
Cost BN 1,506
Accumulated depreciation ZEHinE (862)
Net book amount ERHEEE 644
Year ended 31 December 2020 BE-_E-ZEF+-A=+—HILEE
Opening net book amount FUREFE 644
Exchange differences MEH ZRE (3)
Additions NE 1,252
Depreciation e (567)
Net book amount REFE 1,326
At 31 December 2020 and R-B-EE+-A=+—HR=-ZB=-—F
1 January 2021 —H—H
Cost B 7R 2,824
Accumulated depreciation ZEHTE (1,498)
Net book amount BREFE 1,326
Year ended 31 December 2021 BE-_E-_—S+-A=+—HLEE
Opening net book amount FREFE 1,326
Exchange differences EH Z5E 17
Depreciation e (507)
Net book amount BREFE 836
At 31 December 2021 R=Z2=-—F+=HA=+—H
Cost [B%N 1,642
Accumulated depreciation ZEHTE (806)
Net book amount REFE 836
The details in relation to these leases are set out in note BEZSEHE 2 BEHNME26 -
26.
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for the year ended 31 December 2021 &% —&F —

—— = A=+ —BILEE

16. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 16. RHB AR Z2#x
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December N FN B _TF+-A=+—
2021 and 2020 are as follows: B TZEMEBARZFBOT :
Place/Country of Particulars of issued and paid Percentage of ownership  Principal

Name of company incorporation Place of operation up capital/registered capital interest held by the Company activities

AAER AMRIE/BR  EERY BRIRARRA/HMEARE ARAFKAERERZAM  TEEE

Excel (BVI) Limited* British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong 5,000 shares of US$1 each 100%* (2020: 100%*)  Investment holding

Excel (BVI) Limited® EBRAES &% BOOORBRERIZTZRG  100% (ZE=FF:100%) HKERR

Excel Consulting and Solutions Malaysia Malaysia 100,000 shares of Malaysian 100% (2020: 100%)  Development of computer software and
Sdn. Bhd.* Ringgit (“MYR") 1 each provision of sale and marketing services

Excel Consulting and Solutions ~ BRER SREE 100000REHEEERASE  100% (ZEZFF:100%) FEERGHRREHEERTAEERS
Sdn. Bhd.* A iwd: i

21 Limited* Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$13,001,000 100% (2020: 80.1%)  Application services provider

21 Limited* & £ 13,001,000%7 100% (ZE=FF:80.1%)  ERGHERLER

HR21 Limited* Hong Kong Hong Kong HKS2 100% (2020: 93%)  Development of computer software and

provision of maintenance services

HR21 Limited* £ B phive 100% (ZB=%F:93%)  REEREHREARERHS

World Sky International Limited*  British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong 1 share of USS1 100%* (2020: 100%*)  Investment holding

ERERARAR EBRAES B \REEIZTZRAE  100%* (ZE=FF 100%)  RERK

BErROR) ERAR PRC PRC HK$127,000,000 100% (2020: 100%)  Design and sales of gold and jewellery
(314 £EEHERINE products
RAR) (Yu Tak Holdings
(Shenzhen) Co., Limited@)**

HEERORINERAR hE e 12700000087 100% (ZE=FE:100%) RHREEESRKEER
(3% - eEERECR)

BRAF)

RIFEBEERARERRT  PRC PRC Renminbi (“RMB") 6,000,000 100% (2020: 100%)  Development of computer software and
(Excel Solution Technology provision of maintenance services
Limited@**

MITEEEAERZRERAT 8 e ARH(T AR )6,000,0007 100% (ZZ=F4 1 100%) BN RRHRERE

TEEHTINEBAT (Excel PRC PRC HK$20,000,000 100% (2020: 100%)  Development of computer software and
Software (Shenzhen) Co., provision of maintenance services
Limited@)**

SRR R BRAR hE e 20,000,000/ 100% (ZF-FF:100%)  FEERESREERRRE

FEANERR MM BRAR PRC PRC US$150,000 (note) 100% [2020: 100%)  Provision of professional services
(Excel Global IT Services
(Hangzhou) Co., Limited@)**

FEAGHRINERAR > P e 150,000%7 (M) 100% (ZB=BF:100%) REEEHH
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16. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 16. AMIB AR Z = (&)
(Continued)
Place/Country of Particulars of issued and paid Percentage of ownership  Principal
Name of company incorporation Place of operation ~ up capital/registered capital interest held by the Company activities
ARER AMAILE/BX  EENY BRRMRRE/EMEARE AQAFEAEEREZASM  TEER
FNEAMERABRAR (New  Taiwan Taiwan New Taiwan Dollar (*NT$") 100% (2020: 100%)  Provision of professional services
River Information Technology 11,913,620

& Services Co., Limited@)*

FIERRRRHERAA aE aE s (Hak)n 360t
SEERRSRRRE L PRC PRC RMB10,000,000
ARADA (Dongguan Excel
International Finance and
Technology Incubation Centre
Company Limited@)**

FERERERCHMEBLLE  PE e ABR#10,000,0007C
Ram

RHGEHEERAT (Shenzhen  PRC PRC RIMB10,000,000
Yu Tak Jewellery Co., Ltd.
o)*

RBEFEERAR" T ] ARH10,000,0007

o Issued capital held directly by the Company

* Limited liability company

*x Wholly foreign-owned enterprise

@ The English names of the PRC or Taiwan companies

are translation of their Chinese names for identification
purpose only and are not their official names

Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the registered share
capital of Excel Global IT Services (Hangzhou) Co., Limited
was increased from US$70,000 to US$150,000. As at 31
December 2021 and 2020, the additional registered share capital
of US$80,000 has not been paid. As at 31 December 2021
and up to the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements, Excel Global IT Services (Hangzhou) Co., Limited is
under deregistration process.

100% (ZF=FF:100%) RESERE

100% (2020: 100%)  Development of computer software and
provision of maintenance services

100% (2525 :100%) HEERFARRERERE

100% (2020: 100%)  Wholesaling and retailing of gold, platinum,
diamond, karat gold, jade and jewellery
products

100% (ZBZBF:100%) & % #h kS TERKEER
NHERTE

© o AATEBEREREARA
* BRAR
= EEELR
@  FENAEAANECEEER XA
BES - EHEA - TIERERAR
Wi
RE-T-FFH-ASt-ALEE 8
A RHR (M) A R 2 7R EE AR 2 70,000
EILEME160,000(TT - R E-_—FR_-F
—EET-A=+—A - FEERRRS0,000
TR - RZFZ—F+=A=1—8

FEEZEHEAVBRRRNOIERS - B8
NERE (TN BR AR IEEETREHEMN -
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16.

114

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result
in particulars of excessive length.

Change in ownership interests in subsidiaries

On 10 January 2021, the Group acquired an additional
19.9% equity interest in i21 Limited (“i21") at a cash
consideration of HK$10,000. Upon the acquisition
of additional interest of 21, i21, together with its
subsidiaries, HR21 Holdings Limited and HR21 Limited
(collectively, "i21 Group"”) became the wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Group.

Immediately prior to the acquisition of additional
interest, the carrying amount of net liabilities of non-
controlling interests of i21 Group were HK$1,963,000.
The difference of HK$1,973,000 between the carrying
amount of net liabilities of non-controlling interests
acquired and the consideration paid has been debited to
capital reserve.

Yu Tak International Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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R-ZE-_—F—HA+8B AEBMNURE
RAE10,000/8 7t W fEi21 Limited ([i21])
RHINEN19.9% X #E - MUKFBI21 RSN 2=
% 218 R E KB A FIHR21 Holdings
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for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —FE——F+ - A=+—HIFFZF

16. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 16. RB AR 2= (&)
(Continued)
Material non-controlling interests BARFERER
At 31 December 2020, the Group includes two R-ZBE-_TEF+_-_A=+—"8 K&EH
subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests BRI E A IEE A E RS ([ FEHE AR 1
(“NCI"), the details and the summarised financial HDZHBAT - BEFEE LRI EERE
information, before intragroup eliminations, are as Z(RETEEARGMEE) HINWOT :
follows:

i21 Limited HR21 Limited

HK$'000 HK$'000
T T
Proportion of ownership interests 3E#AR RS P I AT A HERE 25 L R 0R
and voting rights held by NCI A= d 19.9% 7%
Current assets mENEE 208 5,407
Non-current assets EMBNEE - 7
Current liabilities mEIAE (40,806) (6,617)
Net liabilities FAE (40,598) (1,203)
Carrying amount of NCI FIEPERR A o BREE (1,835) 369
Revenue A = 6,525
(Loss)/Profit for the year FRN(EE), S5 (618) 74
Total comprehensive (expense)/  FARAEE (), Wakia%8
income for the year (618) 74
(Loss)/Profit attributable to NCI JEIER IS B (R 2 (B518), % I (123) 3
Total comprehensive (expense)/  JEIEEZEE 22 (L),
income attributable to NCI Wk 4a%8 (123) 5
Dividend paid to NCI BT IR ERRE = -
Net cash flows (used in)/generated &4 E8)(EH) EEvHSRE
from operating activities FRE (3) 221
Net cash flows from investing KERE RS VRS REFE
activities - -
Net cash flows from financing REMEEY RS REFRE
activities - -
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17. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 17. EtEmEE
2021 2020
—E-—F —ECTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
& T T
Financial assets at FVOCI RAKMEBEFAEMEZEKEN
(non-recycling) SMEE(FAEHE)

Unlisted private equity fund FELETILARZEES 447 464

Unlisted equity investments FE_ETRRAIZE (FiEE(a)

(note (a)) 23,776 22,638
24,223 23,102

Notes: BitaE

(a) As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the amount mainly (a) RZBZ—FRZZF-_ZTF+-RA=T+
represented the fair value of 10% interests in an unlisted —H > ZeBEFEERN—MBIELTRA
private entity established in the PRC, which is principally EEMNO0%EENAREE  ZEERN
engaged in property development, property leasing and PR - EEREVERE - WA
property management services. ERMEEERY -

(b) The fair values of unlisted private equity fund and (b) FELEMAUABREES RIELETRAKE
unlisted equity investments have been measured as M AR EED N E34.6FTETE -
described in note 34.6.

18. INVENTORIES 18. &
2021 2020
—EB-—F —E_TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHEIT

Gold and jewellery products: EENHKEEM :

Finished goods RIBK G 46,800 61,024

Packing materials BEME 58 530

46,858 61,554
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19. CONTRACT ASSETS AND 19. SN EEREHNERE
CONTRACT LIABILITIES
19.1 Contract assets 19.1 EHEE
2021 2020
— b Sk 5
HK$'000 HK$'000
Tl Tt

Contract assets arising from  RIGEHNELS 2 A HWEE

service contracts 2,789 3,460

Less: ECL allowance B TEEREEEIa R (46) -

2,743 3,460

The decrease of contract assets in both years is WEFEMNENEERVIEER
mainly due to the decrease in scale of ongoing RERNBZERGSLRERD -

service contracts at the end of the years.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the balance of RIEBE_—FR_BE_FBF+A
contract assets is expected to be recovered within =+—H  GHNEEHBTEHRHER
one year. —F e o
The movement in the ECL allowance of contract AHEERBEEBEREZZD
assets is as follows: M
2021 2020
—B--F —E_THF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHIT
Balance at 1 January R—A—Bz&s = =
ECL allowance recognised FARERZ B EEBIEERE
during the year 46 -
Balance at 31 December Rt-—A=1+—B2#s% 46 =
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19. CONTRACT ASSETS AND 19. EHNEEREGHNEE®
CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)
19.2 Contract liabilities 19.2 &0&K
2021 2020
—E--F —E-TE
HK$'000 HK$'000
T T
Contract liabilities arising TEWEABRR RS NEEZ
from service contracts aHaE
from billings in advance of
performance 9,324 7,369
Contract liabilities arising from $HEEGRERFEEL Z AL
receipts in advance of sales =L
of goods 122 114
9,446 7,483

When the Group receives a deposit before the
sales activity commences or services perform, this
will give rise to contract liabilities.

The increase of contract liabilities in both years

is mainly due to the increase in avenge price of
maintenance service during the years.
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for the year ended 31 December 2021 &% — & ——

19.

20.

e e e = e Y

CONTRACT ASSETS AND 19. EHNEEREGHNEE®
CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)
19.2 Contract liabilities (Continued) 19.2 EHEE#E)
Contract liabilities outstanding at the beginning REVH REBEBESDHAE
of the year amounting to HK$7,422,000 (2020: 7,422,000 o( ZF = T F:
HK$6,601,000) have been recognised as revenue 6,601,000/ 7T ) B A F AR AU
during the year. A e
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the balance of E{é:g——iﬁ E-_FTF+_H
contract liabilities is expected to be settled within =+t—H  AHBEEEHRTEHR—
one year. FRLELE o
TRADE RECEIVABLES 20. EWEFER&
2021 2020
—s-—& —T-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHETT
Trade receivables FEWE SRR 9,638 6,297
Less: ECL allowance B TEEREEEIa RS (290) (153)
9,348 6,144

The directors of the Group considered that the fair values
of trade receivables are not materially different from their
carrying amounts because these balances have short
maturity periods on their inception.

Trade receivables for IT Products and Services are due
within 0 to 60 days (2020: 0 to 60 days) from the date of
billing. Debtors with balances that are more than 90 days
overdue are requested to settle all outstanding balances
before any further credit is granted.

AEBEERAREWEZRRAREDRER
R MREFEHRZ oA BERAEREEY
BERER o

BB E m R IR 2 FE W E 5 RN 5%
%Ein‘l— :I:/\+E|(— —Tfﬁ 7:|:/\
THRIRIE - BHRANBENLTRZE
BAREERMREEEHRE T A BER
E—FEE -
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20.

120

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group's sales of gold and jewellery products
comprised mainly credit sales to franchisees and
wholesalers which are due within 0 to 90 days (2020: 0
to 90 days) from the date of billing.

Based on the invoice dates (or date of revenue
recognition if earlier), the ageing analysis of the trade

20.

EWE SRR &)

ARELES RABERHEEEOER
BEFIIEE R R 2 (SR - R
AEREHEEATA(CE2F : T
ENHE) B -

REZEZAHRKRAERBH(HER
8)) RURBSER(CHGREREEESRE

receivables, net of ECL allowance, was as follows: B 2RO -
2021 2020
—E--F —TZTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FRET FET
0 - 30 days 0-30H 2,772 6,001
31 - 60 days 31 -60H 6,099 32
61 — 90 days 61 -90H - 87
Over 90 days HiE90 H 477 24
9,348 6,144
The movement in the ECL allowance of trade receivables BURESERFFEMEEBERE2EZEHN
is as follows: T
2021 2020
—B-—fF —TTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FRET TET
Balance at 1 January R—A—Bz&# 153 =
ECL allowance recognised TR BREEBERE
during the year 137 153
Balance at 31 December R+-A=+—RHz&#% 290 153
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21.

OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS

21. HMBWFHE - RERANR

AND PREPAYMENTS g
2021 2020
—B-—F —E T
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHIT
Other receivables (notes (i)) H A e Wk 3B (F3E() 4,574 12,823
Deposits (notes (i) %% () 199 283
Prepayments (notes (ii)) B4 FE (R (i) 18,561 1,205
Value-added tax recoverable EEEEEY) 2,257 5,074
25,591 19,385
Notes: Mz -
(i) The movement of gross balance of other receivables and (i) HEMEWHRIERIZS R EE 28
deposits are as follows: ™
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
-l 92 -l -2 B et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FE T FET FBxT
Balance at 1 January 2020 R-IE_TF
—A—HE % 14,490 - 135 14,625
New amounts originated HEMEHR 81,377 = = 81,377
Amounts recovered [BEdEk A (82,761) - - (82,761)
Amount written off MiHeRE _ _ (135) (135)
Balance at 31 December 2020 W-ZT-T4F
and 1 January 2021 +-—A=+—HKZ=
T —F—-A—Hy
e 13,106 - - 13,106
New amounts originated FENEHE 4,855 = 20 4,875
Amounts recovered B ElE (13,208) - - (13,208)
Balance at 31 December 2021 W-ZT - —4%F
+ZA=t+—8mE
7% 4,753 - 20 4,773
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21. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 21. HERFIE - BERFEAR
AND PREPAYMENTS (continued) I\ (%)
Notes: (Continued) BsE - (&)
(i) (Continued) (i) (&)
The movement in the ECL allowance of other receivables HEibfEl B RIR S B B R E
and deposits are as follows: ZEEIT ¢
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
R ERER E=RE #ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHE T FE T FHET FET
Balance at 1 January 2020 N-ZTE-THF
—A—HO&EH - - 135 135
Amount written off WiEE - = (135) (135)

Balance at 31 December 2020 R-ZT-_TEHE+—-H=

and 1 January 2021 +—BAR-_T-—%F
— A —B0%&H - - - -

ECL allowance recognised R BB EEBHER
i - - 20 20

Balance at 31 December 2021 R-ZT-_—F+-_fA=

T— BRI - - 20 20
(ii) Included in prepayments as at 31 December 2021 (ii) RZEZ—F+—A=+—HZHEMXK
was advances to a sub-contractor for its professional EHEERA—Z27 R EARKER
services under IT products and services segment of RS HETRENHEZRB 2N
HK$17,583,000 (2020: HK$Nil). 17,583,000 TC(ZE=_FF: THT)e
The directors of the Group considered that the fair values NEBEERSEMMEKRTIE - e &8
of other receivables, deposits and prepayments are not NHREARBERR  MEREEHRZIAAE
materially different from their carrying amounts because BHEAROETESAEZSR -
these balances have short maturity periods on their

inception.
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22.

23.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Included in cash and bank balances of the Group is
HK$4,130,000 (2020: HK$11,120,000) of bank balances
denominated in RMB placed with banks in the PRC.
RMB is not a freely convertible currency. Under the
PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement and Sales and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for foreign currencies through banks that
are authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

TRADE PAYABLES

The Group was granted by its suppliers credit periods
ranging from 0 to 90 days (2020: 0 to 90 days). Based
on the invoice dates, the ageing analysis of the trade
payables were as follows:

22. BERBITER

REBE 2R RIRITHFEREES,130,00075
TT(ZZFE-FHF 1 11,120,000 7T ) TF R
FREERRITUAARESEZRITER
AREAETATERLBREE - BEREHZ
HNEE 5 IR E TR AIEH) R AETE - &I RASIE K
BIFRE - ANEEREFEFEBERAEITIN
B 5 MER 2 IRITHEARE KR AINE -

23. EHEZERX
HEELE TAEBZ2EERNTEZ=NT
H(ZE-ZTF: T2 A+H)  BEZEE
BHE  BNESEARZEHEITTOT ¢

2021 2020

S —E-TE

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET THT

0 - 30 days 0 — 308 4,802 2,030
31- 60 days 31— 60A 1 -
4,803 2,030

All amounts are short term and hence the carrying
amounts of trade payables are considered to be a
reasonable approximation of fair value.

FRECREEEREE  SENBSERZ
REEREAAABEZAEOH -
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24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED

25.

124

24. EENRERERER

CHARGES

2021 2020
—EB-—F —TEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHIT
Other payables (note (i) LA A< 3R IE (Bf3E(1)) 3,340 4,269
Accrued charges HBIRE A 1,616 2,066
4,956 6,335

Note: B aE

(i) Included in other payables as at 31 December 2021 were
staff bonus payable of HK$305,000 (2020: HK$334,000)
and deposits received from franchisees of HK$2,306,000
(2020: HK$2,250,000).

(ii) All amounts are short term and hence the carrying
amounts of other payables and accrued charges are
considered to be a reasonable approximation of fair
value.

ANMOUNT DUE TO A DIRECTOR

The amount due to a director is unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.
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(ii)

R-ZT——F+-A=t+—BzZHME
N FIBEIE305,0008 T (Z T =T 4 ¢
334,000/ 7T ) 2 FEf B TIEA R B 453
HNEE R U BN 2 #542,306,000/8 T (= F
— T4 : 2,250,000/87T) °

FECHEBREAME - REMENRIA
RIERERAZFEEERESAAEBELZ
BEOK -

BN —BESHR
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26.

LEASE LIABILITIES 26.

The following table shows the remaining contractual
maturities of the Group's lease liabilities:

HERE

HARR -

2021 2020
—E--F —TTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Total minimum lease payments: ERSHHR%E
- Due within one year ——FREH 569 538
- Due in the second to fifth years —-RE_ZERFRFIH 355 907
924 1,445
Future finance charges on lease HEABZ KRB H
liabilities (36) (87)
Present value of lease liabilities HEaEHE 888 1,358
Present value of minimum lease RERESNRZEE
payments:
- Due within one year ——FREH 539 486
- Due in the second to fifth years —-RE_ZERFAEEH 349 872
888 1,358
Less: Portion due within one year A BEARBAEERN —FAEEEH
included under current
liabilities (539) (486)
Portion due after one year included Dt AIEREE BN —FE D ERZH
under non-current liabilities 349 872

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has obtained the
right to use land and buildings through four (2020: four)
tenancy agreements. The leases typically run on an initial
period of three years (2020: three years).

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the total
cash outflows for the leases are HK$734,000 (2020:
HK$1,484,000).

RZTZ—F+-A=+—H ' A&EEE
FERUH(ZT_FF : MR HERZER
SEALMIET 2T - HB—RNF
BH=F(ZT_TF : =F) -

BEE-—F+-A=+—HILEE -

AEMNRERHEZEA734,0008 L (=F
Z T4 1 1,484,000 7T) °
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2-F

— A= +— AR

27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. BAER
2021 2020
it S Sk 225
Number of Number of
shares HK$'000 shares HK$'000
BR#mEE FET & E THT
Authorised: ERE
Ordinary shares of FREE BT
HK$0.1 each Tk
At 1 January and R—A—BXk
31 December +-A=+—H 5,000,000,000 500,000 5,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRHR
At 1 January and 31 R—A—BEKt=
December A=+—H 1,947,690,000 194,769 1,947,690,000 194,769
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28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 28. KA TBMBEARRAE
POSITION OF THE COMPANY
2021 2020
—s-—& —T-TF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B &E THET FHET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERERE
Non-current asset FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries i IEINGIPA - —* -*
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments FERFIE 394 590
Cash and bank balances B MBITER 195 5
589 595
Current liabilities HRBAE
Other payables and accrued charges — E{th & {7018 R FE IR & 1,260 2,503
Amount due to a subsidiary FEN—BM B A B FZIAE 5,205 5,205
Amount due to a director EN—ZEEHIE 15,543 8,088
22,008 15,796
Net current liabilities FEHAGEEE (21,419) (15,201)
Total assets less current liabilities SEAERABHERE (21,419) (15,201)
Net liabilities BEE (21,419) (15,201)
EQUITY R
Share capital RE AR 194,769 194,769
Reserves L] 29(a) (216,188) (209,970)
Capital deficiencies BARE A (21,419) (15,201)
i Less than HK$1,000 * 11,0008 7T
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of RZEZ—_FRAT-_AKLEFTSHER
directors on 12 May 2022. R o
Li Xia =8 Chong Yu Ping HEY
Director BZE Director BE
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29. RESERVES 29. f#fE
(a) The movement of the Company’s reserves (a) A{QFIZREEEEWOT :
are as follows:
Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
B3 RE ZitE#R @at
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET F#&T T
(note 29(b))
(BF5E29(b))
At 1 January 2020 RZZEZZF
—H—H 218,632 (422,869) (204,337)
Loss for the year and total FREENMFAZE
comprehensive expense A 4a %A
for the year = (5,633) (5,633)
At 31 December 2020 and W-Z_ZTF+_H
1 January 2021 =+—AkKk
T
—A—H 218,532 (428,502) (209,970)
Loss for the year and total FREIB R EANDEH
comprehensive expense A S 48 %8
for the year - (6,218) (6,218)
At 31 December 2021 R=-ZB=—F+=A
=+—A8 218,532 (434,720) (216,188)

(b) Share premium

(b) BH=E

B £ 45 18 48 78 2 B Bt B e T £
ARRBITRMABHRBFRLE
HERE o

The share premium represents the difference
between the par value of the shares of the
Company and net proceeds received from the
issuance of the shares of the Company.

BOEERERXBRERFE

FA0IREEE -

The application of the share premium account
is governed by section 40 of the Bermuda
Companies Act.
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30.

31.

32.

LEASE COMMITMENTS

At the reporting date, the lease commitments for short-

term leases are as follows:

e e e = e Y

30. HEERIE

RixE B H

EHEENEEAENT

2021 2020

:§:_$ —7—7 EF

HK$'000 HK$'000

it FiAT

Within one year —&ER 195 190

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 31. EBEXS
Except as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated B A MEREEMIBHTHESI &~
financial statements, the Group had no other material EEMEEENTETEMEARS
transactions with related parties.
Key management personnel remuneration FEEBEAEMS
Key management of the Group are members of the board AEBHITETHEEAE TSRS - T B
of directors. Key management personnel remuneration EBAEMEEETIHEY
includes the following expenses:
2021 2020
—E-—F —ECTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T TET
Short term employee benefits HEEEEF 2,685 2,538
Post-employment benefits BEER B4R T 135 134
2,820 2,672
SIGNIFICANT NON-CASH 32. EXFRERS

TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 December 2021, certain
expenses of the Group of HK$3,542,000 are paid by a
director of the Company on behalf of the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
entered into certain lease contracts in which additions
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities amounting
to HK$1,252,000 was recognised at the lease
commencement date.

2.8

RBE-_T_—F+_A=+—BL#HF

B AEBEFTHX3,542,0008 cH A
NA—BEBEREAEETN -

REE_Z-_TF+_A=+—HILHF
E - $EIJI9§HEEA,Z’7 Eh R

A NERAECAREENREER

E1,252,0005 7T °
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33. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES

ey i B

33.

ARISING FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES

The changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from

MERBEL 2RAEHER

AEERBERDELZABEHUNER

financing activities can be classified as follows: NN
Amount due
Lease liabilities to a director
HEERE B —BEENE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER TER
At 1 January 2020 R=Z=-EF-H—H 658 9,682
Cash-flows: BeRE:
Repayments to directors REZEERE - (1,594)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENRERL KL LN (549) -
Interest element of lease rentals paid BEAHEERSH SR (32) -
Non-cash: FHE
Entering into new leases AuHHE 1,252 =
Interest expenses (note 10) Fl A% (f3E10) 32 -
Exchange differences N Z (3) =
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 R=Z=-FF+=-A=+-—H
k=B=-%-8-H 1,358 8,088
Cash-flows: BeRE:
Advance from a director —ZEEIT - 299
Repayment to a director R—REEEETR - (9,891)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENEERS ARSI R (486) =
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENHEEREF B (53) =
Non-cash: kRE:
Interest expenses (note 10) FEFAZ (fEE10) 53 -
Exchange differences X ZE 16 (238)
Expense paid on behalf of the Company RAERBZMRFE - 3,542
At 31 December 2021 R-B-_—-F+-HA=+—H 888 1,800
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34.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of
financial instruments in its ordinary course of operations
and in its investment activities. The financial risks include
market risk (including foreign currency risk and interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its financial risk and takes actions to mitigate such risk.
The Group adopts conservative strategies on its risk
management and seeks to limit the Group’s exposure to
these risks to a minimum. The board of directors reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks.

There has been no change to the type of the Group's
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the
manner in which it manages and measures the risks.

e

34. BEREERQAAEBER

AEERNEAEXRBBIET RNERE
EEREAESRB T AmMAEN KRR - &
B E R B A ™ 5 R R (B INE R R & F X
Rk) - EERBRERBERR

AEBEEGRME RieT REEEMHR
2 WERRTERIEARRAR - AEEHE
B & 5 MR R R T RAES - B
BAKEAZZ L ERBRRERKE - EF
R RAEEESRBRARIHER -

AEEMSREMIARRzBEREE
ERFERRARZ TEGEEE)
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 34. IKEREERAAEBEE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (&)
(Continued)
34.1 Categories of financial assets and 341 ERMEERERZEF
liabilities
The carrying amounts presented in the FREMBIKARMEY 2 REEY
consolidated statement of financial position relate FATHER R EENSREE:

to the following categories of financial assets and
financial liabilities:

2021 2020
—B--F —E-TE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Financial assets cREE
Financial assets at amortised cost REEN AT ENSREE
- Trade receivables —RBWE ZIRR 9,348 6,144
— Other receivables and deposits —Hip U FIE KRS 4,773 13,106
— Cash and bank balances —-BERBIER 19,562 23,524
Financial assets at FVOCI RAnBEMAEMEZERKESN
(non-recycling) SHEE(TEE)
— Unlisted private equity fund —FLEMRAREES 447 464
- Unlisted equity investments —JELETRAKRE 23,776 22,638
57,906 65,876
Financial liabilities SRAE
Financial liabilities measured at REBERAGTENSRAE
amortised cost
- Trade payables - ERE SRR 4,803 2,030
— Other payables and accrued —HipENFUERTEREA
charges 4,956 6,335
- Amount due to a director —-BEN—REEHE 1,800 8,088
- Lease liabilities -HEsE 888 1,358
12,447 17,811
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 34. BXEREERAAEBERE

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (%)

(Continued)

34.2 Foreign currency risk 34.2 SRR
Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair HNEE R B 4E R [ R E) M B e mh
value or future cash flows of a financial instrument TAZARBEFIERKRBEESRE
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign HIRRE 2 ER o NEFEAST ZIN
exchange rates. The Group's exposure to foreign BERETERAENET(ET]
currency risk arise primarily from its financial RARBAEZSREERBE -
assets and liabilities denominated in United HWEEBWIESREERHZ2EE
States Dollars (“US$"”) and RMB. These are not ER Mg RZTZ—FK
the functional currencies of the group entities —EEF+ZA=+—H - \gr
to which these transactions relate. As at 31 UETRARBAEZEMEE R
December 2021 and 2020, as the financial assets BB TEKAN @ AT ZINER R
and liabilities denominated in US$ and RMB are AR BRI -
insignificant, the exposure to foreign currency risk
is considered minimal.

34.3 Interest rate risk 34.3 AEm@AR
Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair FMERMBIESBHT A AR BHEDS
value or cash flows of a financial instrument BenERAMSMNREEmEIRK
will fluctuate because of changes in the market FoRR  AEEHFERREE
interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk arises RARTERMABEEE -
primarily from bank balances and lease liabilities.
The exposure to interest rates for the Group's AEBRTEREBEABMAAR
bank balances and lease liabilities is considered ZRRERITNEAKX o
immaterial.

34.4 Credit risk 344 FERAR
Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty FEERRESHITAZSSIHFX
to a financial instrument would fail to discharge EREEMITAEZERETEER
its obligation under the terms of the financial MEAEBRITKEBRZER -
instrument and cause a financial loss to the Group. AEBRAIHNEERRITIENRSF
The Group's exposure to credit risk mainly arises RER—REEB/EFAZTFRA
from granting credit to customers in the ordinary EERKEHIEEES -
course of its operations and from its investing
activities.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

134

(Continued)

34.4 Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk for
the components of the consolidated statement of
financial position at 31 December 2021 and 2020
is the carrying amount as disclosed in note 34.1.

(i)

Trade receivables and contract assets

Management has a credit policy in place
for approving the credit limits and the
exposures to credit risk are monitored
such that any outstanding debtors are
reviewed and followed up on an ongoing
basis. The Group's policy is to deal only
with creditworthy counterparties. Payment
record of customers is closely monitored.
Customers of IT Products and Services
with balances that are more than 90
days overdue are required to settled all
outstanding balances before any further
credit is granted. Normally, the Group does
not obtain collateral from customers.

Trade receivables and contract assets are
written off (i.e. derecognised) when there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery.

The Group has certain concentration of
credit risk in respect of trade receivables
as 24% (2020: 51%) of the total trade
receivables was due from a customer.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(Continued)

34.4 Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Trade receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets that
are individually considered to be significant
have been separately assessed for ECL.
The Group makes periodic assessments
on the recoverability of the receivables
based on background and reputation of
the customers, historical settlements and
past experience. During the years ended
31 December 2021 and 2020, no contract
asset was individually written off in full.

The Group has applied the simplified
approach to assess the ECL as prescribed
by HKFRS 9. In calculating the ECL rates,
the Group considers historical elements and
forward looking elements.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables and
contract assets have been grouped based
on shared credit risk characteristics and the
past due days.

—— A=A ER

(i)

BEEREEERAAEBETE

344 EERKE)

FEWE BRRARBHIEE
(&)

TI%'J?E?E?%EﬁE’JFEW%%
BREED BEBIEL
?EHHF%?JEET%EJHE REH
BEZEFHESRESR
BEGEBELRYEW
?XIEE’JTHSZ@'I“_{*HJ%?Eﬁﬁ
g_giﬂ—_ﬁ_—i——ﬁt
FE  HESHNEEERH
BRI T LA S -

RIEBEEMHREERF
BEORE - AREERRA/KE
TENF ATRBEEEE -
Rt BERAEEERXRE -
REBEERESE TR KATE
TR ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

for the year ended 31 December 2021 B ZE - FE-—F 1+ - A=+—

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

HILFE

34. BERBREERAABENE

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (&)
(Continued)
34.4 Credit risk (Continued) 344 SERKE)
(i) Trade receivables and contract assets (i) JEWE ZERA KRG A EE
(Continued) (&)
The ECL for trade receivables and contract R —FR T -TFF
assets as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 —“A=+—H REKESE
were determined as follows: REAEHEENTEREESE
EELT :
Jewelley Products IT Products and Services
KEER ERNKERRRE
ECLrate  Gross Amount Lifetime ECL ECLrate  Gross Amount Lifetime ECL
BHEEFEE G AGRHEERE ROCEFERE 4F REEHEEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiEn FEn TR TiEn
2021 —E--F
Trade receivables EWE R
Past due: jakil
0-90 days 0908 0% - 2.48% 1,199 " 0% - 3.48% 1,190 107
Over 90 days but 0B £
within 1 year B—%R 3.42% 488 17 3.48% 6 -*
Over 1 year BE—F 100% - - 100% 155 155
1,687 28 7,951 262
Contract assets ~ AHEE
Past due: jakiN
0-90 days 0908 3.30% - - 1.65% 2,789 46
2020 ZECEE
Trade receivables EWE 5K
Past due: i
0-90 days 0-90H 0% - 2.98% 1,397 1 0% 4,743 -
Over 90 days but 90 £
within 1 year B—ER 2.99% 5 -* 0% - -
Over 1 year i oietad 100% 152 152 100% - -
1,554 153 4743 -
@ Less than HK$1,000 S D B81,0008 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M EE

for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —FE——F+ - A=+—HIFFZF

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(Continued)

34.4 Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

(if)

Trade receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2020, assessed lifetime
ECL rate of contract assets is minimal for
all ageing bands.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets measured at
amortised cost include other receivables
and deposits and cash and bank balances.
In order to minimise the credit risk,
the management of the Group would
make periodic collective and individual
assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables and deposits based on historical
settlement records and past experience and
current external information and adjusted
to reflect probability-weighted forward-
looking information, including the default
rate where the relevant debtors operates.
Other monitoring procedures are in place
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In these regards,
the credit risk of other receivables and
deposits are considered to be low.

The management is of opinion that there
is no significant increase in credit risk on
other receivables and deposits since initial
recognition as the risk of default is low
after considering the factors as set out in
note 2.6. The ECL rate applied for other
receivables and deposits ranging from 0%
t0 2.54% (2020: 0%).

MBEBREERAAEBESR

(i)

(ii)

e

344 EERKE)

ERE ZEIRAREKEE

72 )
(%)

RZF_FFFA=1+—
A EHERSERRRS
MEEMKRIRREEBE
KEE -

BEEIEA A G BRI R M2 B
BE
AT R E M S R
BE B EEMEWFR &R
EARBRERRITER ° &
BARERIEERR - A&
BEEESREBESERT
8 KB S BRUA K & AT ANEB
BRI EMEYTAERES
B R U B 1 TE B TT R B I
BERIFHE - LERFBAR
BREE A ATIE EE R -
BEABERALEMEL
HEKIE o [ HIEEMbE
EREFF - RERIFHIRETTE
DAY (3 8 BRME TR - BL M
5 HEWEURRES 2
EFERARERSERE -

KEEME26FTEHEZ
% BAREYVRRBRE B
BERBBVSERURE
fhEUGRIERIESMEER
fplrfmKie EF - EARE
fth FE UK IE IR & M TE R E
EEBEENT0%ZE254%
(ZZEZZFF 1 0%) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 - FE——F+—-A=+—HIFFZ

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

138

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(Continued)

34.4 Credit risk (Continued)

(i1) Other financial assets at amortised cost
(Continued)

The credit risk for bank balances is
considered to be insignificant because the
counterparties are reputable banks with
high quality external credit ratings.

34.5 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will
not be able to meet its obligations associated with
its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering
cash or another financial asset. The Group is
exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement
of trade and other payables and its financing
obligations, and also in respect of its cash flow
management. The Group’s objective is to maintain
an appropriate level of liquid assets to meet its
liguidity requirements in the short and longer
term.

Analysed below is the Group’'s remaining
contractual maturities for its financial liabilities
as at 31 December 2021 and 2020. When the
creditor has a choice of when the liability is
settled, the liability is included on the basis of the
earliest date on when the Group can be required
to pay. Where the settlement of the liability is in
instalments, each instalment is allocated to the
earliest period in which the Group is committed to

pay.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RR I

for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —FE——F+ - A=+—HIFFZF

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(Continued)

34.5 Liquidity risk (Continued)

The contractual maturity analysis below is based
on the undiscounted cash flows of the financial

34.

MBEREERAARBEENE
(#)

345 AREERR(E)

ATEOHRATIEREREE
ZARBBRHRERE -

liabilities.
Within  Over 1 year Total
1 year or but within undiscounted Carrying
on demand 5 years amount amount
—FERR —FE0E
RER BREFR RBRBE HREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET TET TET
2021 —BEZ-F
Trade payables R E SRR 4,803 = 4,803 4,803
Other payables and HinERFIER
accrued charges ERREH 4,956 - 4,956 4,956
Amount due a to director [Eff—REEIA 1,800 - 1,800 1,800
Lease liabilities HE&E 569 355 924 888
12,128 355 12,483 12,447
2020 —ZE-TF
Trade payables FERTE 5 IR 2,030 - 2,030 2,030
Other payables and HAth e RIBRTE
accrued charges REA 6,335 = 6,335 6,335
Amount due a to director B —HBEZHIE 8,088 - 8,088 8,088
Lease liabilities HEBRE 538 907 1,445 1,358
16,991 907 17,898 17,811
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 - FE——F+—-A=+—HIFFZ

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 34. XEAREERAAEBETE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (#&)
(Continued)
34.6 Fair value measurements of financial 346 RMIANAAEETE
instruments
Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair HREVBRARPEZEAREERFE
value in the consolidated statement of financial NemEERBEADAAAEE
position are grouped into three levels of a fair BRO=ZEZH - Z@ASRERE
value hierarchy. The three levels are defined based EPAMBNIBEREEARETE
on the observability and significance of inputs to EOT :
the measurements, as follows:
. Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active J F—H - HRAEERBER
markets for identical assets and liabilities. TERTTIS R R E CGRETE) o
. Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices J FR:REENBEERE
included within Level 1 that are observable POk B AT BB A g A B
for the asset or liability, either directly B(E—RABENRER
or indirectly, and not using significant Gh) - RARBRAEREX
unobservable inputs. B AR o
. Level 3: significant unobservable inputs for J FE=H: EEHEBENEX
the asset or liability. EEBRGABRE -
The level in the fair value hierarchy within which EHeHEESBEEEMESRA
the financial asset or liability is categorised in its WARBEBRANER - THER
entirety based on the lowest level of input that is HARBEIABAEEAERNKX
significant to the fair value measurement. ESRE ASE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M EE

for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —FE——F+ - A=+—HIFFZF

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(Continued)

34.6

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)
The financial assets measured at fair value on

a recurring basis are grouped into the fair value
hierarchy as follows:

BEEREEERAAEBETE
(%)

34.

346 TRMITENAREBENESE)

IREEEERAABEAENS
BMEERALABEBRNT :

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
-k k] E=H @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT
2021 —B--f
Financial assets at FVOCI RRRBEF AR
(non-recycling) 2ENENSHEE
(RrTE)%E)
- Unlisted private equity fund —ELEARRARE
% - - 447 447
- Unlisted equity investments —FEMRAEE - - 23,776 23,776
- - 24,223 24,223
2020 “T-TF
Financial assets at FVOCI RRABEF AR
(non-recycling) 2EANENSREE
(FaT8le)
- Unlisted private equity fund —FEFRARE
g - - 464 464
- Unlisted equity investments —EEMRARERE - - 22,638 22,638
- - 23,102 23,102

There were no transfers between Level 1 and
Level 2 during the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020.

BE-_Z - Fh-_ZT-_FF+=
A=+—HBLFE F—HEF -
Az I e o
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for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 - FE——F+—-A=+—HIFFZ

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 34. IKREREERAABEE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS ()
(Continued)
34.6 Fair value measurements of financial 346 ERMIENAREETEE)

142

instruments (Continued)

The reconciliation of the carrying amounts of the

DERAABEBRF=ZMHOLE

Group's financial instruments classified within Eem TRANKEEHRNT :
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy is as follows:
2021 2020
—s-—& —T-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THAT
Unlisted private equity fund FEFTRAREES
Fair value at 1 January R—A—BHRAREE 464 476
Fair value loss recognised in REMZEREERN AN EEB
other comprehensive income [ (17) (12)
Fair value at 31 December R+-—B=+—BMAREBE 447 464
Unlisted equity investments FELETRAKRE
Fair value at 1 January R—A—BHNAREE 22,638 18,117
Fair value gain recognised in REMPEREEROANEE
other comprehensive income Wz 1,163 4,521
Disposal HE (25) =
Fair value at 31 December RtZA=+—HBORAE 23,776 22,638

Fair value (loss)/gain on unlisted equity investments
and unlisted private equity fund is recognised in
other comprehensive income and included under
“Fair value reserve (non-recycling)”.

In the current year, the Group disposed of the
unlisted equity investments, at a consideration
of HK$25,000, which was also the fair value as
at the date of disposal. The gain on disposal of
HK$25,000 has been transferred to accumulated
losses.

There have been no transfers into or out of Level
3 during the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RR I

for the year ended 31 December 2021 2 —FE——F+ - A=+—HIFFZF

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 34. IKREKREERAABEE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (#)
(Continued)
34.6 Fair value measurements of financial 346 ERMIENAREBETEE)

instruments (Continued)

The methods and valuation techniques used for
the purpose of measuring fair values categorised
in Levels 3 are unchanged compared to the
previous reporting periods and are described
below.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the fair value
of the unlisted private equity fund is measured
using valuation techniques with reference to
the net assets values. The directors believe that
the change in fair value (which is included in
other comprehensive income) derived from the
valuation technique is reasonable and is the most
appropriate value at the end of the reporting
period.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the fair value
of an unlisted equity investment has been arrived
at on the basis of a valuation carried out by Avista
Valuation Advisory Limited, independent qualified
professional valuers, using the adjusted net assets
method as the major assets are investment
properties to earn rentals, including those under
construction (2020: leasehold land, construction
in progress and investment properties to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation). The value of
those major assets has been adjusted to their
fair value at the reporting date using residual
method and income capitalisation method (2020:
market comparison method, residual method and
income capitalisation method) for the purpose of
determining the Group's share of adjusted net
assets value and fair value of the investment.

REt2 /\iﬁﬁ%_ﬁ&mr\ﬁ{ﬁﬁ
mﬁiﬁﬁﬁ&mﬁﬂﬁﬁiﬂﬁ
VAL TR - A TR

RZEZ—FR-T_FTF+=H
=+—H  FLTRAREESH
AABEDRAGERMIESESR
EFEE c EFAE - HERIN
EENAREBEESHGIAREMEE
WH)VBAERHE AR RPARE
EMHE -

RZB_—FR-_Z_ZTF+_A
=+—B  EAXrEEERBERR
HeWRENE(BREZRED
) (ZZ-ZTF : BERBRETS
EARENHEETH  EREIRR
REME)  BOFLETRAKRER
ARBEEERBISERERMA
{EEm)ZEELH$1$HD u@ﬁgE AHETT
MEE  ERKHBREEFELE
£ REEAEERENKHARE
EFEMRENAEBE RFXZ2
BEBEERBBREERKRAER
R ZZE_TF : MBHLEE -
BREERBRABRMOR)AEEER
BN AREE -
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34.

35.

144

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(Continued)

34.6 Fair value measurements of financial

instruments (Continued)

The significant unobservable inputs include lack
of marketability discount of 30% (2020: 30%),
monthly rental rate of RMB44.7/sq.m. (2020:
RMB45.9/sq.m.) and market yield of 5% (2020:
4.5%). As at 31 December 2020, the market price
of land of RMB2,117/sq.m and market price of
property of RMB11,131/sg.m are also significant
unobservable inputs. The higher the lack of
marketability discount and market yield would
result in lower fair value. The higher the monthly
rental rate, market price of land and market price
of property would result in higher fair value.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group's capital management objectives are to
ensure the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and to provide an adequate return for shareholders by
pricing goods and services commensurately with the
level of risks.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of
changes in economic conditions. In order to adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders,
raises new debt financing.

issue new shares and
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34.

35.

ey i B

BEBREERAABES
(#)

i

346 TRMITENAREENESE)

BAEZIEEHASBERERZE
MBI R30% (T T F ¢
30%)  FAMEESEFTRKARE
447 (ZE_ZEF : FFH KA
R¥45.970) R H W EE% (=
T _FTF 1 45%) AT -F
+-—RA=+—H  BRELERHG
ABBEALITETSFE R KARE
2T RMETESFEARAR
®&11,13170 © BRZ i@ 5H 1 A9 RL IR
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